Gerile Siqin

Complementary Approaches for Assessing Protein Sources in Fish Feed





JYU DISSERTATIONS 45

Gerile Siqin

Complementary Approaches for Assessing Protein Sources in Fish Feed

Esitetään Jyväskylän yliopiston matemaattis-luonnontieteellisen tiedekunnan suostumuksella julkisesti tarkastettavaksi yliopiston vanhassa juhlasalissa S212 joulukuun 14. päivänä 2018 kello 12.

Academic dissertation to be publicly discussed, by permission of the Faculty of Mathematics and Science of the University of Jyväskylä, in building Seminarium, auditorium S212, on December 14, 2018 at 12 o'clock noon.



JYVÄSKYLÄ 2018

Editors Timo Marjomäki Department of Biological and Environmental Science, University of Jyväskylä Ville Korkiakangas Open Science Centre, University of Jyväskylä

Copyright © 2018, by University of Jyväskylä

Permanent link to this publication: http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-951-39-7625-5

ISBN 978-951-39-7625-5 (PDF) URN:ISBN:978-951-39-7625-5 ISSN 2489-9003

ABSTRACT

Siqin, Gerile

Complementary approaches for assessing protein sources in fish feed Jyväskylä: University of Jyväskylä, 2018, 46 p. (JYU Dissertations ISSN 2489-9003; 45) ISBN 978-951-39-7625-5 (PDF) Yhteenveto: Vaihtoehtoiset menetelmät kalanrehujen proteiinilähteiden arvioimiseksi Diss.

Fluctuating fishmeal (FM) prices and declining marine fish stocks have led to the current trend of replacing dietary FM with plant proteins (PP) in fish feed. PPs offer challenges both with respect to nutritional quality and the occurrence of antinutrients. The assessment of utilisation efficiency of PPs for growth is important for the sustainable production of fish feed. The overall aim of this thesis was to investigate the applicability of stable isotope analysis in combination with respirometry in the evaluation of dietary PPs for juvenile rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). The dietary PPs were corn gluten meal (CGM), rapeseed protein concentrate (RPC) and potato protein (PoP). Complete replacement of FM with CGM was feasible without adversely affecting the metabolic oxygen consumption (MO₂) of the trout. However, the growth of fish and apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of CGM and/or RPC decreased with their increasing dietary proportion through which the nutritional quality of the diets was compromised. The growth reduction may be caused by lower nutritional quality and antinutrients of the PPs. ADC of CGM and/or RPC was estimated from the faecal nitrogen isotope ratio ($\delta^{15}N$). There was a strong negative correlation between diet-tissue shift ($\Delta^{15}N$) of $\delta^{15}N$ values and dietary protein quality, and these correlations observed in muscle, liver, mucus and faeces were similar. Carbon and nitrogen turnover in muscle and liver of fish fed with corn and potato diet were estimated using stable isotope mixing model. This thesis only suggests the potential applications of stable isotope analysis and respirometry in fish nutrition research instead of providing an exact replacement level of FM. Stable isotope analysis cannot replace conventional assessment of feed ingredients and feeds, but it will bring new insight into the field of fish nutrition research provided the preconditions for using stable isotope analysis are met. In addition, development of non-lethal approach is possible by measuring the isotope ratio of faeces and mucus.

Keywords: Diet-tissue shift; digestibility; fishmeal; metabolic oxygen consumption; plant protein; rainbow trout; stable isotope mixing model.

Gerile Siqin, University of Jyväskylä, Department of Biological and Environmental Science, P.O. Box 35, FI-40014 University of Jyväskylä, Finland

Author's address	Gerile Siqin Department of Biological and Environmental Science P.O. Box 35 FI-40014 University of Jyväskylä Finland sisiqing@student.jyu.fi
Supervisors	Docent Juhani Pirhonen Department of Biological and Environmental Science P.O. Box 35 FI-40014 University of Jyväskylä Finland
	Ph.D. Mikko Kiljunen Department of Biological and Environmental Science P.O. Box 35 FI-40014 University of Jyväskylä Finland
	Ph.D. Jouni Vielma Natural Resources Institute Finland Survontie 9 40500 Jyväskylä Finland
	Professor Trond Storebakken Norwegian University of Life Sciences Department of Animal and Aquacultural Sciences P.O. Box 5003, NO-1432 Ås Norway
Reviewers	Docent Jari Syväranta University of Eastern Finland Department of Environmental and Biological Sciences P.O. Box 111, 80101 Joensuu Finland
	Professor Chris Harrod University of Antofagasta Alexander von Humboldt Institute of Natural Sciences Avenida Angamos 601 Antofagasta Chile
Opponent	Professor Anders Kiessling Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Department of Animal Nutrition and Management Box 7024, 75007 Uppsala Sweden

CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

ABBREVIATIONS

1	INT	RODUCTION	8
	1.1	Current trends in aquaculture	8
	1.2	Plant proteins in fish feed	8
	1.3	Protein assessment with stable isotopes and respirometry	10
		1.3.1 Isotopic difference among protein sources	10
		1.3.2 Isotopic difference between animal and its diet	11
		1.3.3 Stable isotope mixing models	11
		1.3.4 Metabolic oxygen consumption	13
	1.4	Protein assessment with other methods	14
		1.4.1 Growth performance and production parameters	14
		1.4.2 Digestibility experiment	15
		1.4.3 The use of omic technologies	17
	1.5	Aims of the study	18
2	MA	TERIALS AND METHODS	19
	2.1	Feeding experiment in a flow-through system	19
	2.2	Diet formulation and production	20
	2.3	Feeding and sample collection	21
	2.4	Respirometer experiment	22
	2.5	Calculation of production parameters	22
	2.6	Measurement of isotope composition	23
	2.7	Analysis of stable isotope data	23
	2.8	Statistical analyses	24
3	RES	SULTS AND DISCUSSION	25
	3.1	Isotopic difference between tissue and diet (I, II)	25
	3.2	Apparent digestibility coefficient of PPs (II)	29
	3.3	Turnover of carbon and nitrogen (I, III and IV)	31
	3.4	Effects of PPs on MO2 and swimming capacity (III, IV)	32
4	COI	NCLUSIONS	34
Ack	nowl	edgements	36
ΥH	TEEI	NVETO (RÉSUMÉ IN FINNISH)	37
REI	FERE	NCES	38

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

The thesis is based on the following original articles, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals I–IV.

- I Siqin G., Laine L., Vielma J., Kiljunen M., Storebakken T. & Pirhonen J. 2018. Dietary fishmeal replacement by plant protein sources decreases growth and induces a shift in δ^{15} N in rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. Manuscript.
- II Siqin G., Laine L., Kiljunen M., Vielma J. & Pirhonen J. 2018. Estimation of apparent digestibility coefficient of plant proteins with nitrogen stable isotope ratio in juvenile rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Manuscript.
- III Siqin G., Kiljunen M., Vielma J., Fernandes R. & Pirhonen J. 2018. Bayesian quantification of carbon and nitrogen turnover in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) fed plant-based diet. Manuscript.
- IV Siqin G. & Pirhonen J. 2017. Replacement of fishmeal with corn gluten meal in feeds for juvenile rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) does not affect oxygen consumption during forced swimming. *Aquaculture* 479: 616– 618.

The contribution of Gerile Siqin as well as other authors to preparation of article I–IV are presented in Table 1.

	Ι	II	III	IV
Original idea	MK, JV, LL, JP	GS, JP	GS, MK, JP, JV	JP
Data collection	LL, JP	LL, JP	GS, JP, JV	GS
Data analysis	GS, MK, JV, JP	GS, MK, JP	GS, MK, JP, JV, RF	GS, JP
Writing	GS, MK, JV, JP, TS	GS, JP	GS, MK, JP, RF	GS, JP

TABLE 1The contribution of different authors to articles I-IV (GS = Gerile Siqin, LL =
Lily Laine, JP = Juhani Pirhonen, MK = Mikko Kiljunen, JV = Jouni Vielma, TS
= Trond Storebakken, RF = Ricardo Fernandes).

ABBREVIATIONS

AA	amino acid
ADC	apparent digestibility coefficient
ANF	antinutritional factor
С	carbon
CF	condition factor
CGM	corn gluten meal
Corn diet	diet based on corn gluten meal
СР	crude protein
$\Delta^{13}C$	diet-tissue shift of carbon isotope ratio
Δ	diet-tissue shift in general
D ₁₋₆	diet 1 to diet 6 in the second feeding trial
$\Delta^{15}N$	diet-tissue shift of nitrogen isotope ratio
EAA	essential amino acid
FW	final weight
FCR	feed conversion ratio
FM	fishmeal
IW	initial weight
Mixed diet	diet containing more than 1 protein source
MO ₂	metabolic oxygen consumption
Ν	nitrogen
Р	phosphorus
PoP	potato protein
Potato diet	diet based on potato protein
PP	plant protein
PP:FM ratio	plant protein to fishmeal ratio in the diet
PRE	protein retention efficiency
RPC	rapeseed protein concentrate
SGR	specific growth rate
Single diet	diet containing only 1 protein source
WG	wet weight gain
$\delta^{13}C$	carbon isotope ratio
$\delta^{15}N$	nitrogen isotope ratio

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Current trends in aquaculture

The world aquaculture production increased from 32 million tonnes in 2000 to 77 million tonnes in 2015 with an average annual growth rate of 6 %, while the cost of feed represents about 50-80 % of its production cost (Anon. 2017). Protein is the most expensive ingredient in fish feed. Fishmeal (FM) has been largely used in fish feed for its high nutritional quality. Salmonids, such as Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) and rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss), are the preferred farming species in temperate regions, and FM has traditionally been the major protein source in the feed for these high trophic level species. The use of FM exerts pressure on marine fish stocks (Naylor et al. 2000), as FM is mainly produced from the small pelagic fish which could be directly used as human food (Cashion et al. 2017). In addition, the price of FM is increasing (Anon. 2018), although the marine protein dependency of salmon feed decreased dramatically since 1990 (Ytrestøyl et al. 2015). Hence, the replacement of FM with alternative protein sources, such as proteins derived from plants, microalgae, yeast, bacteria and insects, therefore, is becoming paramount. In Finland, rainbow trout accounted for over 90 % of total food fish production in 2017. The use of locally produced plant protein (PP) sources, such as rapeseed and potato, might provide means to produce fish feed in an economically and environmentally viable way.

1.2 Plant proteins in fish feed

The demand for PP, as an alternative protein source for replacing FM in fish feed, appears to increase further (Hardy 2010). The nutritional quality of PP, including meals derived from legumes, grains and oilseeds, is inferior to that of FM in diet of carnivorous fish for several reasons. First, PPs are deficient in some essential amino acids (EAA), especially methionine and lysine (Gatlin *et*

al. 2007), and some physiologically important compounds such as a sulphurcontaining amino acid-like compound known as taurine (Salze and Davis 2015). PPs typically contain several antinutritional factors (ANF), for example nonstarch polysaccharides (Kokou and Fountoulaki 2018), alkaloids and protease inhibitor (Francis et al. 2001). The presence of ANFs, such as glycoalkaloid, seems to have adverse effect on the palatability of feed thereby reducing dietary feed intake (Tusche et al. 2011a). The presence of ANFs is also associated with the reduced digestibility of PPs (Francis et al. 2001). Furthermore, most of the phosphorus (P) in plant protein present in the form of phytate which is not digestible for humans and monogastric animals, including fish (Raboy 2001), thereby increasing the P discharge into water bodies. The P and nitrogen (N) excreted with waste materials are the major nutrients contributing to the eutrophication of water bodies. There is also concern for increasing amount of genetically modified plant products in the market (Flachowsky et al. 2005), and the presence of genetically modified PPs is also an issue under debate, particularly in Europe (Pusztai and Bardocz 2006).

However, there are some solutions to those limitations mentioned above. The amino acid (AA) profile of compound feed can be improved by mixing various protein sources, through which the AA profile of the final feed can be balanced. For example, post-smolt Atlantic salmon were successfully raised on FM free diet without compromising growth, in which the FM free diet consisted of mixture of PP and poultry meal (Davidson et al. 2016). The use of PP concentrates with crystalline AA supplements will further improve the AA profile of the feed, although crystalline AAs are expensive. The combination of various PPs can mutually compensate for the AA deficiency in a specific PP (Gatlin et al. 2007, Hardy 2010). The substitution of 50-95 % of dietary FM with mixture of PPs is possible for some carnivorous species, including turbot (Psetta maxima), European seabass (Dicentrarchus labrax), gilthead seabream (Sparus aurata), Senegalese sole (Solea senegalensis), Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout, without depressing growth and feed utilisation (Burel et al. 2000, Kaushik et al. 2004, Dias et al. 2009, Cabral et al. 2011, Johnsen et al. 2011, Zhang et al. 2012). In addition, modern processing technologies could produce the oilseed byproducts with improved nutrient composition and AA profile, and reduced ANFs (Duodu et al. 2018). Feed attractants could also compensate the adverse effect of ANFs on dietary feed intake. There are also several solutions for reducing the P waste in the effluent water from aquaculture. First, the availability of P in fish feed could be increased via supplementation of the microbial enzyme phytase. The reduction of P content in plant seeds is also possible by knocking out a specific gene in the node to reduce the allocation of P to seeds (Yamaji et al. 2016). With all these pros and cons, PPs have been widely used in fish feed. However, the effect of FM replacement with PP on feed, feed processing, fish and environment need to be investigated further to maximize utilisation efficiency, and to reduce the cost of feed production as well as the environmental impact of aquaculture. In addition, the potential effect of FM substitution with PP on the proportion of the long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in the products should be examined carefully since

those fatty acids, especially eicosopentaenoic acid and decosohexaenoic acid, are intertwined with human nutrition and health. For instance, the fatty acid composition in the fillet of gilthead seabream was slightly altered by the 75 % of dietary PP (Francesco *et al.* 2007), while the fatty acid composition in the fillet of Atlantic salmon was not affected by the inclusion of PP up to 95 % in the diet (Pratoomyot *et al.* 2010).

1.3 Protein assessment with stable isotopes and respirometry

1.3.1 Isotopic difference among protein sources

Isotopes are the atoms of the same chemical element with same numbers of protons but different numbers of neutrons in their nuclei. Stable isotopes are natural parts of an organism and they do not decay over time. The heavier forms of stable isotopes, such as ¹³C and ¹⁵N, have an extra neutron in their nucleus. As a consequence, the heavier and lighter forms of same element are differentially assimilated into the tissue of plants and animals, because of the physical and chemical fractionation driven by the extra neutron during complex biological processes (Fry 2006). The carboxylation enzymes in the chloroplast of plants have differing fractionation effect against CO₂ incorporation during photosynthesis, leading to different photosynthetic pathways, i.e. C₃, C₄ and CAM (Crassulacean Acid Metabolism), in plants (Farquhar et al. 1989). Consequently, variation in the carbon (C) isotope ratio (δ^{13} C) is seen among C₃ and C₄ plants. The δ^{13} C value is near -28 ‰ and -14 ‰ in C₃ and C₄ plants, respectively (Farquhar et al. 1989). The isotope ratio of C₃ and C₄ plants is reflected further in that of the consumer tissue. The heavier forms of the stable isotopes are preferentially assimilated into the animal tissue during biological reactions such as assimilation, and therefore upper trophic level consumers have higher values of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N compared to those at the lower trophic level. The enrichment of heavier isotopes between trophic levels is stepwise. For example, the δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values increase about 1 and 3.2 ‰, respectively, at each unit of increase in trophic level (Le Vay and Gamboa-Delgado 2011), depending on food quality, life stages, temperature and species. Consequently, the δ^{15} N of the protein sources derived from animals, such as FM, is higher than that in the PPs. These isotopic differences between different sources, both in terms of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values, allow researchers to mathematically estimate the contribution of a particular source relative the others in a mixture of different sources. In ecological research, δ^{13} C values are typically used to identify the origin of different sources of C within a food web (Jones et al. 1998). The trophic position of the consumers within a food web also can be estimated based on the combination of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values (Post 2002, Quezada-Romegialli *et al.* 2018). Animal tissues is a record of the isotope ratio present in its diet. For example, European eels (Anguilla anguilla) from habitats with different salinity were differentiated based on the δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values present in their muscle tissue

(Harrod *et al.* 2005). In mammalian research, the δ^{13} C value of tooth enamel from fossil equids (horses) has been applied to uncover the C₃/C₄ composition in their diet (Cerling *et al.* 1997).

1.3.2 Isotopic difference between animal and its diet

Animal consumers asymptotically reach isotopic equilibrium following a dietary change, if the same diet is constantly available (Gamboa-Delgado *et al.* 2008, Martínez del Rio and Carleton 2012). It takes time for animal tissues to eventually come to isotopic equilibrium with their new diet (Fry and Arnold 1982). A 6- to 8-fold increase in weight is required to reach isotopic equilibrium according to Herzka (2005). Juvenile rainbow trout reached isotopic equilibrium with a 15-fold increase in weight over an 80-d feeding trial (Badillo *et al.* 2014). At the equilibrium stage, the isotopic difference between the diet consumed and animal tissues, *i.e.* the diet–tissue shift (Δ), becomes constant (Fry and Arnold 1982).

At this point, 3 main questions appear to be critical. Namely, why there is an isotopic difference between animal and its diet, and when does this isotopic difference becomes constant, and what are the main factors influencing the magnitude of this isotopic difference. Δ is a net result of the multiple changes associated with series of biological reactions (Sutka *et al.* 2008) during which the heavier isotopes (e.g. ¹³C and ¹⁵N) are preferentially incorporated into the tissues, and therefore it is difficult to predict both mathematically and experimentally. For instance, the ¹⁵N-enrichment of consumer tissue over its diet is potentially related to the transamination and oxidative deamination of AAs (Martínez del Rio and Wolf 2005, Barreto-Curiel *et al.* 2018).

The magnitude of Δ is potentially affected by various factors such as feeding level, diet quality, water temperature, species and tissue type. Juvenile organisms are preferred in experiments using stable isotopes since they have potential to grow fast and reach isotopic equilibrium in a relatively short period of time, and also space requirement is less with juvenile organisms. The Δ following a dietary change has been considered as a combined effect of accretion of new tissue (growth) and metabolic turnover of existing tissue, and their relative contribution can be separated using an exponential model (Hesslein *et al.* 1993). In rapidly growing juvenile organisms, it seems that Δ is largely driven by growth (Vander Zanden *et al.* 2015), which depends on diet quality in controlled laboratory feeding experiments (Gamboa-Delgado and Le Vay 2009a, Zhou *et al.* 2016). Previous studies on Pacific white shrimp (*Litopenaeus vannamei*) showed that the magnitude of Δ increases with the decreasing nutritional quality of dietary protein (Gamboa-Delgado and Le Vay 2009a, Gamboa-Delgado *et al.* 2013, 2014, 2016).

1.3.3 Stable isotope mixing models

Stable isotope analysis has been used to evaluate the movement of chemicals in various ecosystems. The proportional contributions of different potential

sources towards a biological mixture can be estimated using stable isotope mixing models. For example, the relative contribution of potential prey fish (sources) to the diet of European catfish (Silurus glanis) population has been estimated using a 2-source mixing model in the study of river ecosystem (Syväranta et al. 2009). Stable isotope mixing models are mathematical tools that incorporate the isotopic composition of a mixture and its potential sources to determine the proportions of sources in that mixture. In nutritional experiments with fish, the δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values of the protein sources and fish tissue can be used to estimate the proportional contribution of dietary proteins to the tissue of fish raised on diet containing more than 1 protein source (mixed diet) using mixing models (Gamboa-Delgado et al. 2008, Badillo et al. 2014, Filbrun and Culver 2014, Zapata et al. 2016). A diet containing individual test protein source (single diet) is formulated to determine the Δ for specific test protein. At the equilibrium stage, the isotope ratios of test proteins are corrected for Δ before incorporating them into mixing model with the isotope ratio of the fish reared on mixed diet. The determination of Δ for each test protein is necessary as Δ might differ substantially between protein sources (e.g. PP vs. FM).

Compound feed contains various ingredients such as proteins, fish oil and starch. In experiments using stable isotopes, the single diet must contain 1 protein source to determine the Δ for that specific protein. However, it is impossible to produce a diet with adequate physical and nutritional quality using only 1 protein source. For example, carnivorous fishes, such as rainbow trout, do not grow well on the single diet containing only 1 type of PP, primarily due to ANFs, AA imbalance, poor palatability and digestibility. The metabolic stress induced by the poor nutritional quality of PP in the single diet prevents the fish from reaching isotopic equilibrium, and it is difficult to determine the Δ of PP at isotopic equilibrium in the experiment with carnivorous fish. Nonetheless, it is important to uncover how the dietary PP is utilized in carnivorous fish raised on single diet, because this type of experiment may provide new insight into the difficulties to achieve isotopic equilibrium.

Various types of mixing models have been increasingly used in ecological research (Phillips *et al.* 2014). The simplest version of mixing model is based on the linear interpolation between 2 known points (Focken 2004). However, biological mixing is far more complex than linear interpolation, especially in an ecosystem. The measured isotope ratio of the biological mixture does not always linearly respond to that of the sources due to various factors such as difference in elemental concentration and digestibility. In addition, the magnitude of Δ used to correct the isotope ratio of sources depends on various factors such as diet quality and tissue type. In this context, it is not always valid to assume a constant Δ for different diets or tissues. Furthermore, variation in the isotope ratio of sources is propagated into the uncertainties of mixing model outputs. There are also many potential food sources in an ecosystem compared to the limited numbers of stable isotope tracers. In order to cope with the problems mentioned above, more sophisticated mixing models were developed (Phillips *et al.* 2014) based on the previously developed simple linear models,

including some Bayesian mixing models such as IsoSource (Phillips and Gregg 2003), SIAR (Parnell *et al.* 2010), MixSIAR (Stock *et al.* 2018) and FRUITS (Fernandes *et al.* 2014). These Bayesian models take the different sources of uncertainties related to the simple linear models into account to provide more robust estimation (Phillips *et al.* 2014).

However, mixing models have been less frequently used in fish nutrition research compared to their application in food-web studies (Phillips *et al.* 2014). A few studies have used mixing models, most of them simple linear models such as IsoError (Phillips and Gregg 2001) (Table 2). The IsoError model considers the variation in the isotope ratio of both sources and mixture but it does not address the significant difference in elemental concentration. The IsoConc (Phillips and Koch 2002) model does consider the significant difference in elemental concentration, but it neglects the uncertainties associated with the variation in isotope ratios.

Species	Tracers	Models	References
Oreochromis niloticus	δ13C	IsoError	Focken 2004
Cyprinus carpio	$\delta^{13}C$	IsoError	Schlechtriem et al. 2004
Solea senegalensis	$\delta^{13}C$	IsoError	Gamboa-Delgado et al. 2008
Clarias gariepinus	$\delta^{\rm 13}C$ & $\delta^{\rm 15}N$	SIAR	Enyidi et al. 2013
Oncorhynchus mykiss	$\delta^{15}N$	IsoConc	Badillo et al. 2014
Ictalurus punctatus	$\delta^{\rm 13}C$ & $\delta^{\rm 15}N$	MixSIR	Filbrun and Culver 2014
Totoaba macdonaldi	$\delta^{15}N$	2-source, 1-isotope	Zapata et al. 2016
Rachycentron canadum	$\delta^{15}N$	IsoError	Zhou <i>et al.</i> 2016

TABLE 2Applications of stable isotope mixing models in fish nutrition research.

1.3.4 Metabolic oxygen consumption

With the increasing level of FM replacement with PPs in modern aquaculture, the potential effect of growing fish on low FM diet has been studied from different perspectives, including growth, fatty acid composition of the tissue and gene expression (Terova *et al.* 2013, Rimoldi *et al.* 2015, Lazzarotto *et al.* 2018). Changes in dietary composition, e.g. dietary proteins, have certain effect on the oxygen consumption of fish, which is potentially associated with changes in metabolism (Kaczanowski and Beamish 1996, Saravanan *et al.* 2012, 2013a, b). Change in oxygen consumption is indirectly associated with both metabolic rate and physiological state of fish. However, there has been little published data on metabolic oxygen consumption (MO₂, mg kg⁻¹ h⁻¹) and swimming capacity of fish raised on different protein sources such as FM and PPs.

Indirect calorimetry, also known as respirometry, is the conventional method for measuring metabolism (heat production) in fish. The MO₂ of the

fish can be easily determined with respirometry in a respirometer. The oxygen demand of the fish can be affected by various factors such as fish size and water temperature. In a study with Atlantic salmon, there were no significant differences between treatments in terms of MO_2 , swimming performance and recovery ability from swimming exercise, regardless of the dietary sources of lipids (fish oil, poultry fat and vegetable oil) and proteins (FM and poultry by-product meal) (Wilson *et al.* 2007). Previous studies have shown that the increasing level of dietary PPs in the diet of carnivorous fish could adversely affect the growth performance (Panserat *et al.* 2009, Rimoldi *et al.* 2015) which also may lead to further change in the composition of muscle tissue. Information associated with metabolic rate and physiological state of fish raised on PP-based diet is critical for establishing an appropriate growing condition in practice. However, a systematic understanding of how the increasing level of PPs affects the MO_2 and swimming performance of carnivorous fish is still lacking.

1.4 Protein assessment with other methods

The use of PPs in fish feed have been studied using various approaches from different perspectives, including the effects on extrusion parameters, physical quality and digestibility of the feed produced (Draganovic *et al.* 2011, Gong *et al.* 2017), as well as the growth performance, MO₂, and both gastrointestinal and immune system of the fish (Wilson *et al.* 2007, Urán *et al.* 2008, Storebakken *et al.* 2015, Zhou *et al.* 2017). In the following chapters, the standard methods used in fish nutrition studies are briefly summarized.

1.4.1 Growth performance and production parameters

In general, a growth trial is conducted to observe the relevant responses of the fish to the dietary treatments which contain graded levels of test nutrient such as FM. The growth of the fish depends on the genetic strain, life stage, rearing conditions, sex, diet and feeding level. Growth parameters, such as weight gain (WG), are measured and compared among different dietary groups. If the initial weight (IW) of the experimental fish is similar, specific growth rate (SGR) also can be expressed and compared between treatments, based on the natural logarithm of initial and final weight (FW) of dietary treatment. In addition, the feed conversion ratio (FCR), *i.e.* the weight of feed fed to the fish for obtaining a unit of WG, is also a very important parameter to evaluate the capacity of feed formulation to support fish growth. Further, the nutrient components of both feed and fish consumed can be analysed via proximate analysis (Fig. 1), and the retention efficiency of a specific nutrient (nutrient gain/nutrient intake), for example protein retention efficiency (PRE), can be quantified.

With proximate analysis, the crude protein (CP) content is determined by Kjeldahl method (McDonald *et al.* 2011). However, the Kjeldahl method

requires toxic chemicals, such as H_2SO_4 and NaOH, in order to quantify the N content (McDonald *et al.* 2011). The chemical waste produced during the analyses requires further treatment. Compared to Kjeldahl method, the N content of a sample can be rapidly determined using Dumas method (Marcó *et al.* 2002) without using hazardous chemicals for sample digestion (McDonald *et al.* 2011). The N content can be readily determined during the measurement of isotope composition of a c. 0.6 mg of sample with mass spectrometer coupled with elemental analyser as well, and the N content can be further converted into CP using a proper conversion factor (*e.g.* 6.25).



FIGURE 1 Proximate analysis for nutrient components of feed and fish samples (adapted and redrawn from McDonald *et al.* 2011).

However, the CP content is determined on the basis of total N using Kjeldahl method, Dumas method and stable isotope analysis, through which the nonprotein N sources cannot be separated, and therefore these methods may lead to unexpected overestimation of CP content. Recently, some advanced technologies have been proposed and discussed to improve the reliability and specificity of the previous methods (Moore *et al.* 2010, Otter 2012, Cubero-Leon *et al.* 2014).

1.4.2 Digestibility experiment

Digestion is the first step after a consumer ingests food. Digestibility is a measure to determine the proportion of digestible nutrients after the digestion processes. The protein digestibility in fish feed has been studied using both *in vivo* and *in vitro* methods. However, the *in vitro* method cannot closely simulate the digestive processes of a living fish (Carvalho *et al.* 2016). Thus, the *in vivo* method has been commonly used. δ^{13} C values have also been used to estimate the digestibility of C₃ and C₄ plants in the diets for tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*) (Oliveira *et al.* 2007), but there is limited information about using stable isotope analysis in digestibility trial with fish.

The measurement of true digestibility is impossible due to contamination from endogenous cells and nutrient leaching of the faeces collected, and therefore the term "apparent digestibility coefficient" (ADC) has been applied in fish nutrition research (Bureau et al. 2003). The straightforward way to estimate ADC of a nutrient is to quantify the concentration of nutrient both in feed consumed and faeces produced during the entire feeding trial, but it is extremely difficult to quantify the total amount of feed consumed and faeces produced accurately due to the aqueous environment (Bureau et al. 2003). Therefore, the ADC has been conventionally estimated indirectly by introducing inert, indigestible digestion markers into experimental diets (Austreng et al. 2000). The digestion marker (e.g. chromic oxide) needs to be homogenously mixed into the diet. The sampling of a representative faecal material, however, is important for determining ADC. The fish require some time to adapt to the experimental diet, and the faeces should be sampled after this acclimation period. Chemical analyses are further carried out to determine the nutrient and marker concentrations both in faeces and corresponding diet, so that the ADC of a specific nutrient can be estimated based on the nutrient and marker concentration (Bureau et al. 2003). In digestibility experiment with fish, sampling of faeces is challenging, and underestimation or overestimation of ADC of the nutrients occurs (Belal 2005) depending on the sampling method applied (Fig. 2).

Conducting a digestibility trial in juvenile fish is technically demanding. Firstly, it is challenging to collect enough faeces for the chemical analyses. Further, the use of active collection method induces too much stress on juvenile fish, and it may also increase the contamination from endogenous cells (Fig. 2). The passive collection of faeces from the effluent water, therefore, could be an appropriate option for juvenile fish (Storebakken *et al.* 1998), although nutrient leaching can occur in the water (Fig. 2). Compared to the mixing of digestion marker at physical level, stable isotopes are bound chemically with the ambient molecules in the faeces, and therefore the aqueous environment might have less impact on the isotope ratio of faeces. To my knowledge, there has been no detailed investigation of ADC estimation in fish nutrition research using stable isotopes.



FIGURE 2 The methods for sampling faeces for determining apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of nutrients and notes on their likely biases to experimental conclusions (illustration based on the narration by Bureau *et al.* 2003).

1.4.3 The use of omic technologies

There are constant interactions among the genome, RNA, proteins and metabolites inside a cell, and the change in diet formulation may affect the interactions between them (Vera *et al.* 2017). In order to unfold the molecular picture of how fish metabolism responds to external factors such as dietary proteins, more advanced technologies have been applied in fish nutrition research (Fig. 3), including genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics and metabolomics (Rodrigues *et al.* 2012, Tacchi *et al.* 2012, Jobling 2016).



FIGURE 3 The change in feed formulation and the consequent change in the metabolic pool of absorbed nutrients and their metabolic pathways; the effect of feed formulation on the metabolism of fish can be studied at molecular level using multiomics approach (adapted and redrawn from Jobling 2016).

For example, some proteins are involved in transcription and enzymatic activity. The interactions are complex inside a living organism, and therefore the combined use of different approaches, *i.e.* multiomics, might give a broader insight into how the change in diet compositions alters the cellular processes and interactions among them.

1.5 Aims of the study

The main objectives of this study were a) to examine the potential applications of stable isotope analysis in fish nutrition research, comparing the results from stable isotope analysis with the growth and production parameters, and b) to assess the utilisation of PPs in the compound feed for juvenile rainbow trout, using stable isotope analysis with the measurement of growth and production parameters including WG, FCR, SGR and PRE. The specific research objectives of the articles I–IV were:

- I To examine the relationship between growth parameters (WG, FCR and PRE) and Δ of mucus, muscle and liver tissue of juvenile rainbow trout; to examine the relationship between Δ and PP:FM ratio in the diet.
- II To estimate the ADC of corn gluten meal (CGM), rapeseed protein concentrate (RPC) and their mixture using $\delta^{15}N$ value of faeces sampled from juvenile rainbow trout fed extruded feed containing graded level of FM.
- III To quantify the turnover of C and N in the muscle and liver tissue of juvenile rainbow trout fed potato protein (PoP)- and CGM-based diets using Bayesian mixing model; to assess the assimilation of N derived from PoP and CGM in the muscle and liver tissue of juvenile rainbow trout.
- IVTo assess the potential effect of dietary FM and CGM on the MO₂ and swimming capacity of juvenile rainbow trout using a swim-tunnel respirometer.

2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Feeding experiment in a flow-through system

A large sample (Table 3) of all-female juvenile diploid rainbow trout were transferred to the laboratory of the University of Jyväskylä from a commercial fish farm (Hanka-Taimen Ltd., Finland). The fish were maintained on the commercial diet from the farm until start of the feeding trials. The fish were randomly distributed into the experimental aquaria (Table 3). Each aquarium (15 l) represented 1 experimental unit, and each of them was an independent flow-through system with common header tank. The system water was filtered from a bore-hole using a 3-step filtration system (Viqua AWP110-2 sediment filter with 5 μ m mesh size, Pentair Structural water softener and a limestone column).

All the experiments were carried out under the permit ESAVI/10807/04.10.07/2013 from the Animal Experiment Board in Finland.

TABLE 3The experimental set-up of the 2 feeding trials. Initial weight is expressed as
mean \pm SD.

Article	Number of fish	Initial mass g	Acclimation period d	Fish/ aquarium	Treatments	Replicates /treatment
I and II	270	6.3 ± 0.1	28	15	6	3
III	153	6.6 ± 0.2	11	17	3	3

2.2 Diet formulation and production

Experimental diets were produced at Laukaa fish farm of the Natural Resources Institute, Finland, using a twin-screw Creusot-Loire (Clextral) extruder. The isotope composition of the ingredients was measured before designing the feed formulation, and the protein sources with distinct isotope ratio were selected to produce the diets with distinct isotope ratio (Fig. 4). Prior to processing the feeds, the isotope ratio of the final diets was estimated with mass balance mixing equation (Fry 2006).



FIGURE 4 Isotopic composition of the protein sources (solid circles) and experimental diets (empty circles). a) First feeding trial (I and II): 6 diets (D₁-D₆) were produced using fishmeal (FM), corn gluten meal (CGM) and rapeseed protein concentrate (RPC) as protein sources. b) Second feeding trial (III and IV): FM diet, corn diet and potato diet were produced using FM, CGM and potato protein (PoP) as protein sources. The data points were connected using dash (proteins) and solid (diets) lines to make the illustration more graphic.

Homogenously mixed ingredients were conditioned with 20 % boiling water, and 3 % of the fish oil was added and mixed to produce a malleable mash prior to the extrusion process. The mash was pressed through the extruder barrel at 130–140 °C, using a 2 mm die. The pellets were dried at 40 °C and crumbled, sieved and coated with fish oil. The completed feeds were kept in airtight plastic bags at –20 °C until use. The proximate composition of final feeds was analysed via proximate analysis at the Finnish Food Safety Authority (I and II) and Eurofins Scientific Finland Ltd. (FM and corn diet used in III and IV), using standard methods. The standard conversion factors for carbohydrate (17 kJ g⁻¹), protein (27 kJ g⁻¹) and lipids (39 kJ g⁻¹) were applied to estimate the approximate gross energy content of the FM diet and corn diet (Jobling 1994). The isotope composition of final feeds was also measured.

2.3 Feeding and sample collection

In both feeding experiments, fish were fed to apparent satiation twice per weekday (9–10 AM, 15–16 PM), and faeces, mucus and uneaten pellets were removed c. 20 min before feeding. The fish were reared at the conditions presented in Table 4. The fish were sampled after c. 65 h feed depletion over the weekends in order to reduce the effect of stomach content on estimation of mass and the effect of this fasting period on growth was assumed negligible based on the results from a previous study (Nikki *et al.* 2004). Sampled fish were frozen at -20 °C until the measurement of isotope ratio. Scales, skin and gall bladder were separated carefully from the mucus, dorsal muscle and liver samples, respectively.

TABLE 4Rearing conditions during the first (I and II) and second (III and IV) feeding
trial. Data are expressed as mean \pm SD. In IV, the range of water temperature
and dissolved O_2 is provided.

Article	Temp. ℃	Dissolved O ₂ mg l ⁻¹	Conductivity µS cm ⁻¹	рН	Photoperiod D:L ratio	Flow l min ⁻¹
I and II	16.4 ± 0.1	8.1 ± 0.1			12:12	0.7
III	15.3 ± 0.2	9.1 ± 0.2	217.4 ± 8.7	6.9 ± 0.1	12:12	0.6 ± 0.03
IV	14.8-15.2	8.5-9.5			12:12	

Prior to the first feeding trial, 1 fish from each aquarium was sampled for measuring the initial isotope ratio of different tissues. The first feeding trial continued 6 weeks, and 1 fish from each aquarium was sampled for stable isotope analysis at each sampling point (sampling points: day 5, 10, 15, 22, 32 and 42). From each sampled fish, the external mucus was collected using previously developed method (Church *et al.* 2009), and after the sampling of mucus, the faeces were sampled by stripping method (Austreng 1978). During handling, fish were anaesthetised with clove oil (dissolved in ethanol at 1:10).

Before the start of second feeding trial, 10 fish were sampled to determine the initial isotope ratio of muscle and liver tissue. During the second feeding trial, fish were fed with FM, potato and corn diet over 7 weeks in aquaria, and 1 fish from each aquarium was sampled for stable isotope analysis each week. After 7 weeks, the fish from the 3 replicates of each dietary treatment were combined and transferred into 3 different 500 l flow-through tanks where the feeding trial continued with the same diet, but with a larger pellet size. Including the 7 weeks in aquarium, the fish were fed with FM, potato and corn diet 87, 107 and 128 d, respectively. At the end of second feeding trial, 5 fish from each treatment were sampled for stable isotope analysis.

2.4 Respirometer experiment

Ten fish from each of FM and corn treatment were selected for respirometer experiment. The experiments were conducted in a 10 l swim-tunnel respirometer, connected to an optical oxygen meter (Loligo Systems, Viborg, Denmark). As stated by the manufacturer, the 10 l swim-tunnel respirometer is appropriate for fish from 50 to 150 g. To avoid the confounding effect associated with size differences, the respirometer experiment of fish fed corn diet was carried out after day 128 since the wet weight of those fish was not similar with that of fish fed on FM diet at day 87. The average weight of the fish from 2 treatments was between 74 to 81 g. However, the feeding of potato treatment was ended on day 107 due to mortality, and the average weight was c. 18 g, and therefore the potato treatment was excluded from the respirometer experiment.

The intermittent test of each fish consisted of 18 loops, 210 s for each loop (Table 5). Each loop contained 3 steps, *i.e.* 90 s of flushing (oxygenated water pumped into the measurement chamber from the ambient bath), 60 s of waiting (chamber was closed to reach equilibrium in O_2 concentration) and 60 s of measuring (chamber was closed) step. The MO₂ of each fish was calculated by the AutoResp software (Loligo Systems, Viborg, Denmark) on the basis of the decline in dissolved oxygen concentration over the 60 s of measuring step.

Before the test of each fish, water flow was adjusted to be constant based on fish total body length (BL). Each test consisted of acclimation, exercise and recovery period (Table 5). During the acclimation period, the fish were allowed to recover from handling (netting, measuring weight and length) over the 6 loops at water flow of 0.5 BL s⁻¹. In the exercise period, water flow was adjusted from 1 to 2.5 BL s⁻¹, and there was a recovery loop (0.5 BL s⁻¹) after each increase in water flow by 0.5 BL s⁻¹. There were 2 consecutive loops at 2.5 BL s⁻¹. After the exercise period, the fish were allowed to recover from the exercise over a 4 consecutive loops at 0.5 BL s⁻¹.

TABLE 5Water flow (BL s-1) during each measurement consisting of 18 loops (250 s
loop-1) over 3 different periods.

Period		Ace	limati	ion pe	riod				Е	xercis	e peric	od			Re	ecover	y peri	od
Loop	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18
Flow	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	1.0	0.5	1.5	0.5	2.0	0.5	2.5	2.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5

2.5 Calculation of production parameters

At each sampling point, the fish biomass in each aquarium was weighed. The wet weight and length of each sampled fish were also measured. The proximate

composition of fish was analysed via proximate analysis at Finnish Food Safety Authority (I and II) using standard methods. Wet weight gain (WG), feed conversion ratio (FCR), protein retention efficiency (PRE), specific growth rate (SGR) and PP:FM ratio (see I) and Fulton condition factor (CF) (III) were calculated.

2.6 Measurement of isotope composition

Samples for stable isotope analysis were freeze-dried in glass vials, and pulverized with a sharpened nickle spatula following drying. The measurements of isotope ratio were carried out at the University of Jyväskylä, Finland. The pulverized homogenous samples were weighed to c. 0.1–0.6 mg and loaded into tin capsules to measure the isotope composition with a Carlo Erba Flash EA 1112 elemental analyser interfaced with Thermo Finnigan DELTA_{plus} Advantage continuous-flow stable isotope ratio mass spectrometer (CF-IRMS). Each sample was analysed in duplicate in the first feeding trial (I and II) and once in second feeding trial (III). The dried white muscle of pike *Esox lucius* was analysed as internal standard in duplicate, after every 10 measurements in each sequence.

The isotope values of C and N were expressed in the delta notation (δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N) to describe the deviation from that of Vienna Pee Dee Belemnite (VPDB, Eq. 1) and atmospheric N (Eq. 1 in I) in parts per mil (‰). There are various terms to describe the isotopic difference between diet consumed and animal tissues. In this thesis, the term "diet–tissue shift" was used to avoid confusing interpretation (Auerswald *et al.* 2010). For clarity, faeces were considered as tissue throughout this thesis. The Δ of δ^{13} C (Eq. 2) and δ^{15} N (Eq. 2 in I) value was calculated by subtracting the isotope ratio of the diet from that of the corresponding tissue.

$$\delta^{13}C = \left[\frac{({}^{13}C/{}^{12}C)_{sample}}{({}^{13}C/{}^{12}C)_{VPDB}} - 1\right] \times 1000$$
 Eq. 1

$$\Delta^{13}C = \delta^{13}C_{tissue} - \delta^{13}C_{diet}$$
 Eq. 2

2.7 Analysis of stable isotope data

The $\Delta^{15}N$ values were compared among the 6 different dietary treatments within the tissue and among 3 different tissues (mucus, muscle and liver) within a dietary treatment. The relationship of $\Delta^{15}N$ values with WG, PRE, FCR and PP:FM ratio was estimated (I).

The N in the faeces was assumed as a mixture of N from undigested FM and PP (CGM and/or RPC), and the undigested fraction of N from PP (Eq. 1 in II)) and FM (Eq. 2 in II) was estimated using a previously developed 2-source (FM and PP), 1-isotope (δ^{15} N) mixing model (Phillips 2012). The ADC of the CGM (in diet D₁ and D₆), RPC (in diet D₂) and their mixture (in diet D₄ and D₅) was estimated using the equation (Eq. 3 in II) modified from the previous studies (Oliveira *et al.* 2007, Gong *et al.* 2017). Both estimated proportion of undigested PP and FM (f_{PP} and f_{FM}) and dietary proportion of PP and FM (d_{PP} and d_{FM}) were incorporated into the modified equation (Eq. 3 in II). The δ^{15} N value of the faeces from fish fed complete PP-based diet was estimated from the negative correlation established between the dietary inclusion level of PP and the δ^{15} N value of faeces (II).

The original tissue (muscle and liver) of fish raised on a single diet was assumed as a contributing source of N and C over time, and another source was the dietary PP. Based on this context, a 2-source (original tissue vs. dietary PP), 1-isotope ($\delta^{15}N$ or $\delta^{13}C$), concentration-dependent mixing model was defined in the Bayesian mixing model FRUITS (food reconstruction using isotopic transferred signals, Fernandes *et al.* 2014) in order to estimate the C and N turnover in the muscle and liver tissue of fish fed potato and corn diet. Prior to estimation in FRUITS, the $\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{13}C$ values of the sources were corrected using the $\Delta^{15}N$ and $\Delta^{13}C$ values calculated at the end of each feeding experiment. FRUITS incorporates all the features of previous mixing models and it provides credible intervals and posterior probability distributions (III).

2.8 Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS statistics 24.0 software package (I, III and IV) and R 3.5.1 (Anon. 2018) (II). Homogeneity of variances and normality of dependent variables were checked using Levene's test and Shapiro-Wilk test, respectively. One-way ANOVA was used to determine the overall difference among treatments followed by LSD (I) and Tukey HSD (III and II) test as *post hoc* comparison. When data did not support the assumptions of homogeneity of variances and normality, the Kruskal-Wallis H test followed by Dunn's nonparametric comparison (FCR in I), and Welch ANOVA followed by Games-Howell post hoc test (FCR and CF in III) were applied to test the statistical significance of the difference among different treatments. The relationships of both Δ^{13} C and Δ^{15} N values with growth parameters, dietary PP:FM ratio, as well as dietary PP were estimated by linear regression (I and II). Repeated measures ANOVA was used to detect the overall differences between fish raised on corn and FM diet in terms of MO₂ over time during 3 consecutive test periods (IV). The MO₂ at highest speed (2.5 BL s⁻¹) was compared between fish raised on corn and FM diet using Mann-Whitney U test (IV). All statistical tests were carried out at a significance level of 0.05.

3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Isotopic difference between tissue and diet (I, II)

There are various factors affecting Δ , for example growth which also changes depending on the diet quality and water temperature. Most of the potential factors influencing growth were controlled in the current feeding experiment. In the present case, the difference in dietary protein quality is the major factor influencing the level of Δ^{15} N value in a specific tissue (I). The nutritional quality of a specific protein source is mainly determined by its level of ANFs, balance between essential and non-essential AAs and digestibility. In previous studies, the presence of ANFs in RPC has interfered with the digestibility and palatability of the diet (Teskeredžić *et al.* 1995, Slawski *et al.* 2012), and this might be the reason for the difference in FI among the treatments in the present experiment (I). Compared to FM, CGM is limited in some EAAs such as lysine and arginine (Pereira and Oliva-Teles 2003), and this could further affect the growth.

In the present study, the FCR significantly increased with the level of CGM and RPC while the FI decreased (I). These observed differences in both FCR and FI were further reflected in the growth parameters of the fish, including WG, PRE and SGR. The growth of the trout significantly decreased with increasing dietary PPs which also lowered the PRE. Consistent with previous studies (Gamboa-Delgado and Le Vay 2009a, Gamboa-Delgado *et al.* 2013, 2014, 2016), Δ^{15} N value increased with the level of dietary PPs since the growth was compromised due to the reduced FI and nutritional quality of the diets (Fig. 5).



FIGURE 5 Potential mechanism associated with the variations in the isotopic difference between animal and its diet, *i.e.* the diet–tissue shift (Δ).

Among the treatments within a tissue, $\Delta^{15}N$ values increased significantly (R² > 0.9, P < 0.01) with the level of PPs (I). Diets D₁ and D₂ contained mostly CGM and RPC, respectively, and the highest $\Delta^{15}N$ values were observed in these 2 treatments, while it was lowest in treatment D₃ containing only FM as protein source (I). Treatments D₄, D₅ and D₆ contained intermediate levels of PP and intermediate $\Delta^{15}N$ values were observed in these treatments (I). The $\delta^{15}N$ value of the faeces was lower than the diet in D₃ treatment (Fig. 6g), and therefore the $\Delta^{15}N$ value was negative (Table 6). The difference in $\Delta^{15}N$ values induced by dietary treatment is associated with both growth and metabolic turnover, in which growth played a dominant role in the present study (I).

Among the tissues within a diet, the $\Delta^{15}N$ values also differed significantly (P < 0.05), except those fish fed with diet D₃ (I). The significantly highest $\Delta^{15}N$ values were observed in the mucus (Fig. 6e, f) followed by muscle (Fig. 6a, b) and liver (Fig. 6c, d) tissue. The $\Delta^{15}N$ values were significantly different among tissues (mucus, muscle and liver) in fish fed mostly CGM-based diet (D₁) while there was no difference among tissues of those fed FM-based diet (D₃), and this indicates that the faster growth in fish fed diet D₃ accelerated the assimilation of dietary N into the tissue compared to the slower growth in those fed with diet D₁ (I). The faeces (Fig. 6g, h) were lower in $\Delta^{15}N$ value (Table 6), compared to mucus, muscle and liver (I). Compared to the observations of mucus, muscle and liver (I), fat tissue was very low in $\delta^{13}C$ values (Table 6). A specific dietary element (*e.g.* N) could be differentially incorporated into different tissues at different speed (Gannes *et al.* 1998), through which the isotopic difference among different tissues might be achieved in the present study (I).

	D_1	D_2	D_3	D_4	D_5	D6
Fat						
$\delta^{\scriptscriptstyle 13}C$	-27.5 ± 0.10	-30.1 ± 0.04	-30.3 ± 0.02	-28.8 ± 0.48	-29.7 ± 0.04	-28.8 ± 0.03
$\Delta^{13}C$	-9.4 ± 0.10	-6.3 ± 0.04	-7.3 ± 0.02	-7.0 ± 0.48	-7.0 ± 0.04	-8.1 ± 0.03
Faece						
$\delta^{\scriptscriptstyle 13}C$	-22.8 ± 0.46	-27.9 ± 0.35	-27.0 ± 0.13	-26.5 ± 0.17	- 27.1 ± 0.14	-24.8 ± 0.29
$\Delta^{13}C$	-4.6 ± 0.46	-4.0 ± 0.35	-4.0 ± 0.13	-4.6 ± 0.17	-4.4 ± 0.14	-4.1 ± 0.29
$\delta^{15}N$	7.0 ± 0.28	7.2 ± 0.61	10.1 ± 0.24	8.6 ± 0.35	7.8 ± 0.28	9.0 ± 0.08
$\Delta^{15} N$	2.0 ± 0.28	2.1 ± 0.61	-0.5 ± 0.24	1.5 ± 0.35	1.6 ± 0.28	0.9 ± 0.08

TABLE 6Mean $\delta^{13}C$ (± SD, n = 3) value and its diet-tissue shift ($\Delta^{13}C$) in fat and faeces
(II) sampled at the end of feeding trial from juvenile rainbow trout fed 6
experimental diets over 42 d.

After a dietary change, the fish start to synthesise new tissue using the nutrients derived from the new diet, and the original tissue will be gradually replaced (or diluted) by the newly synthesised tissue. In a feeding experiment, the duration of experiment must be long enough to ensure that the responses induced by dietary treatments are sufficient for the final comparison among treatments before stopping the feeding trial. A WG up to 1000 % (10 times) of IW was recommended to be achieved in rapidly growing juvenile organisms before stopping the feeding trial, although a 300 % (3 times of IW) increase is a frequently used standard (Anon. 2011). A 6- to 8-fold increase in weight was suggested for reaching isotopic equilibrium with the diet consumed (Herzka 2005). On the other hand, isotopic equilibrium was observed when the juvenile rainbow trout obtained 15-fold increase in weight during an 80-d feeding trial (Badillo et al. 2014). Therefore, stable isotope analysis is not necessarily a quick alternative to conventional feeding experiments. In the present feeding experiment (I, II), a 4.4- to 7.1-fold increase in weight was observed after 42 d of feeding, and the $\Delta^{15}N$ values were calculated using the $\delta^{15}N$ values in tissues sampled at day 42 (Fig. 6). It seems that the fish did not fully reach an isotopic equilibrium with their diets in this experiment (I). However, it was assumed that the detected responses, in terms of $\Delta^{15}N$ value, were sufficient for indicating the growth differences induced by the dietary treatments (I).



FIGURE 6 Diet-tissue shifts (Δ^{13} C and Δ^{15} N) of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values in muscle (a, b), liver (c, d), mucus (e, f) and faeces (g, h, in II) of juvenile rainbow trout fed 6 different diets (D_1 – D_6) over the 42 d of feeding experiment. The solid circles at the vertices of solid line tringles represent the mean δ^{15} N value of experimental diets, and the empty circles at the vertices of dash line triangles represent that of the tissues of fish fed respective diets. The horizontal lines between solid circles (diets) and empty circles (tissues) indicate the Δ^{13} C values and the vertical lines indicate the Δ^{15} N values.

With the increasing concern for animal welfare, the development of non-lethal method is critical in nutritional studies. Both faeces and external mucus can be sampled without killing the fish. Most importantly, the difference in dietary protein quality was also indicated by the $\Delta^{15}N$ values observed in faeces (II) and mucus (I) in the current feeding experiment. In experiments using stable isotopes, the repeated sampling of faeces and mucus from same individual during the entire feeding trial could be an option for preventing the variations of isotope ratios measured from different individuals. In addition, the repeated sampling further reduces the effect of sampling individual fish at different sampling points during the feeding on the calculation of growth parameters such as WG.

3.2 Apparent digestibility coefficient of PPs (II)

During the 42 d of the feeding trial, the fish fed mostly CGM-based diet (D₁) had a lowest WG while there was no significant difference among the other treatments (D₂, D₄, D₅ and D₆). The ADC of crude protein in the CGM was 49.5 % in treatment D₁ while it was 79.7 % in treatment D₆. The ADC of crude protein in the CGM, RPC and their mixture decreased with the level of FM in the diet of juvenile rainbow trout, which was also reflected in the growth reduction caused by the high level of PPs. The ADC values were also positively correlated with the SGR and PRE.

In the present study, treatments D_4 and D_5 contained mixtures of CGM and RPC as protein sources in each. As suggested by Lupatsch *et al.* (2003), the estimated ADC in treatment D_4 and D_5 is sum of the ADC of crude protein in CGM and RPC. The published values of ADC for CGM and RPC were 92–97 % (Anon. 2011) and 89–98 % (Teskeredžić *et al.* 1995), respectively, which are considerably higher than the values found in this experiment. It is practical to replace up to 18 % of FM with CGM in the diet for rainbow trout (Stone *et al.* 2005, Saez *et al.* 2014). The 15 % replacement of dietary FM with CGM led to the decrease in protein metabolism in Japanese seabass (*Lateolabrax japonicas*) (Men *et al.* 2014). In the present study, the dietary level of CGM was 80.1 and 41.8 % in treatment D_1 and D_6 , respectively. The high level of PPs led to decreased ADC of protein in CGM and RPC for rainbow trout, and therefore it seems that the high inclusion level of PPs also interfered with the digestion process of protein before the absorption and utilisation by the fish in the present case.

The δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values in the faeces gradually become stable during the 42 d of feeding. At day 42, all faecal samples were very low in δ^{13} C value, and the δ^{15} N value of faeces from fish fed D₃ was lower than that in the diet. As concluded in article I, the Δ^{15} N values were negatively correlated with the WG and also with ADC of protein in the PPs (Fig. 7a, b).



FIGURE 7 Linear regression between diet-faeces shift ($\Delta^{15}N$) of $\delta^{15}N$ value and both weight gain (WG, a) and apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC, b) of protein in CGM, RPC and their mixture (II). Each of black solid circles represents an ADC value estimated from mean value of $\delta^{15}N$ in faeces from the 3 replicates.

In a previous study, the ADC of C₃ (white rice and soybean meal) and C₄ (cornmeal and corn gluten) plant ingredients in diet for tambaqui was estimated using δ^{13} C value of both faeces and diet (Oliveira *et al.* 2007), and the equation used in their study is not applicable for present case. First, there were some other C sources, such as fish oil and starch, in all diets, and this might be responsible for the very low δ^{13} C values in the faeces. In addition, RPC and FM are very similar in δ^{13} C value, thereby preventing the use of δ^{13} C values to estimate ADC of PPs. In terms of δ^{15} N values, the RPC and CGM are very close. However, both RPC and CGM are PPs and therefore, they can be grouped as a mixture of PPs (Phillips *et al.* 2005). The possible interaction between C₃ and C₄ plants during the digestion process may have also affected the result of this study as mentioned by Focken (2004).

With the stable isotope approach, the effect of nutrient leaching on ADC estimation (Watanabe et al. 1996) might be reduced since the aqueous environment might have less effect on the isotope ratio of faeces. However, the effect of different sampling methods on the isotope ratio of faeces requires further investigation. Most importantly, a tiny amount (0.1-0.6 mg) of dried faecal sample is required for stable isotope analysis, and therefore, it is convenient for conducting digestibility trial with small fish, which is normally considered challenging with the conventional approach using digestion marker. Even with the stable isotope method, it is impossible to quantify the share of endogenous N in the faeces. In the present case, it is possible that the contamination from endogenous N source was partly responsible for the lower ADC of protein in CGM and RPC as it is difficult to sample faeces from small fish using the stripping method. In addition, the stable isotope approach is practical provided there is a clear isotopic difference between protein sources, and this limitation can be improved through grouping of sources with similar characteristics (Phillips et al. 2005). As described in this study, there is a need for determining the faecal isotope ratio of fish fed single diet, but it is very challenging to grow carnivorous fish on PP-based single diet. In the present study, the faecal δ^{15} N value of fish fed PP-based single diet was estimated using the relationship found between the faecal δ^{15} N value and dietary PP content.

3.3 Turnover of carbon and nitrogen (I, III and IV)

During the entire feeding period (III, IV), the fish from FM and corn treatment reached similar weight at day 87 and 128, respectively, while the mortality increased from day 107 in potato treatment.

Previous studies suggested that the palatability of the feed could be negatively influenced by the heat stable glycoalkaloid in PoP concentrate (Tusche *et al.* 2011a, b, 2013). In the present case, PoP is the only protein source in the potato diet, and the mortality seen in the potato treatment was most likely caused by the presence of ANFs such as glycoalkaloid which could interfere with both ingestion and digestion of the feed (III). Dietary FM was replaced up to 60 % using PoP concentrate without compromising growth of rainbow trout with IW of 52 g (Tusche *et al.* 2013). Previous studies suggested that AA imbalance and lower nutrient and energy digestibility of CGM could be the main factors for growth retardation (Regost *et al.* 1999, Pereira and Oliva-Teles 2003, Kikuchi 2007). In the present study, the slow growth of the fish fed corn diet was probably associated with the lower nutritional quality of the CGM compared to FM (III, IV).

The 11- to 13-fold increase in weight indicated that the muscle and liver tissue of fish from the FM and corn treatments were likely close to the isotopic equilibrium (III, IV). In contrast, those fish in the potato treatment only gained c. 3-fold increase in weight, and interestingly the isotope ratio present in tissues also gradually approached that of potato diet (III). It has been suggested that the share of metabolic rate in existing tissue increases when growth decreases (Maruyama *et al.* 2001, Sakano *et al.* 2005). Therefore, it is possible that the isotope ratio of fish in potato treatment approached twoards that of potato diet through the contribution of increasing metabolic rate in existing tissues (III).

Higher growth accelerated the incorporation of dietary N into tissues (I), and similarly, the fish fed with the FM diet had a faster growth which led to the faster assimilation of C and N in this study (III). The type of tissue also influences the rate of change in isotope ratio (Buchheister and Latour 2010, Xia *et al.* 2013). In the present study, the change in δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N value was faster in liver than muscle tissue (III). The isotopic difference between muscle and liver tissue decreased towards the end of the feeding trial. At the end the isotope ratio of muscle and liver tissue was close to overlap in FM and corn treatment (III).

Both in muscle and liver, the Δ^{13} C and Δ^{15} N values decreased towards the end of feeding experiment. As observed in the first experiment (I), the Δ^{15} N values of muscle and liver were negatively correlated with dietary FM content and SGR. The highest Δ^{15} N value was observed in potato treatment followed by corn and FM treatment (III).

The turnover of C and N increased towards the end of the feeding trial. C and N turnover in liver tissue was faster than muscle in the corn treatment. In all treatments, N turnover was faster than C, in both muscle and liver tissue. In the muscle tissue from potato treatment, C turnover was c. 52 % at day 43 while it was c. 31 % in corn treatment. At day 22, N turnover was over 50 % in the muscle and liver tissue of fish from corn treatment while it was still below 50 % in potato treatment. At the last sampling point, C and N turnover were c. 82 % and c. 90 %, respectively, in the muscle and liver tissue of fish fed potato diet. C turnover of potato treatment was higher than corn treatment while N turnover was opposite, both in muscle and liver tissue. The effect of lipid extraction on the model output was negligible (III).

In previous study, the estimated proportional contributions from the mixing model was compared with the established proportion of proteins in the diet (Gamboa-Delgado and Le Vay 2009b), and this could be true only if the proteins were assimilated at the ratio as included in the diet. However, the isotope ratio present in animal tissue is only representative of the assimilated fraction (Phillips 2012). Therefore, protein digestibility and FI should be considered when the outputs of mixing models are compared with the dietary proportion of protein sources. In the present study, the difference in FI and digestibility might have certain effect on the amount and bioavailability of the AAs in the metabolic pool, through which the difference in C and N turnover between the corn and potato treatment was achieved (III).

3.4 Effects of PPs on MO₂ and swimming capacity (III, IV)

Cereal grains and their by-products are limited in some EAAs such as lysine and methionine (McDonald *et al.* 2011). The corn diet was supplemented with AAs and fish protein hydrolysate to avoid the potential growth retardation due to EAA deficiency (lysine and methionine) and palatability deterioration. During the initial 7 weeks of feeding (III), the average individual FI (\pm SD) was 217.2 \pm 3.8 g and 113.5 \pm 8.0 g for FM and corn treatment, respectively, and it was 47.0 g (at 39 d) and 65.6 g (at 79 d) during the extended feeding period (IV). In addition, for the fish raised on corn diet it took 128 d to reach the testing size (74.1 g) while the fish in FM treatment reached 80.7 g after 87 d, and this was also reflected in the slower SGR of corn treatment (Table 7). Further, the FCR of FM diet was lower than corn diet (III). There was no significant difference between FM and corn treatment in terms of CF (IV).

In a previous study, the effect of age, ration size and swimming speed on the fatty acid profile of muscle tissue from chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) has been compared during a 300-d experiment (Kiessling *et al.* 2005), and the muscle fatty acid composition was largely affected by age followed by ration size and swimming speed. In the present experiment, the fish in FM treatment had a higher FI during the initial 7 weeks of feeding, and the FI in corn treatment was higher after 7 weeks. Therefore, according to the previous study (Kiessling *et al.* 2005), the difference in FI between treatments may cause changes in the muscle fatty acid profile which may affect the metabolism in muscle tissue further.

We expected that the fish from corn treatment will be lower in the capacity of coping with energy demand for swimming exercise and consume more oxygen compared to FM treatment. However, there was no statistically significant difference found between the rainbow trout from the FM and corn treatments in terms of MO2 at 15 °C (IV). The MO2 increased during the exercise period compared to the acclimation and recovery period (Table 7). In a previous study, difference in protein and lipid sources in the feed for Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) did not have a significant effect on MO₂ and swimming performance of the fish at 9 °C (Wilson et al. 2007). The results of the present study suggest that total replacement of FM with CGM does not affect the MO₂ and swimming capacity of rainbow trout, even though growth was retarded due to high inclusion level of CGM (IV). CGM could be considered as a potential alternative protein source for substituting dietary FM without affecting the MO₂, but growth of the fish was compromised with corn diet in the present case. Therefore, the cost associated with extra amount of corn diet fed to the fish to achieve similar body weight should be examined further.

TABLE 7Initial weight (IW), final weight (FW), wet weight gain (WG), specific growth
rate (SGR) and metabolic oxygen consumption (MO2, during the acclimation,
exercise and recovery period, n = 10) of fish raised on FM and corn diet (IV).
Data were expressed as mean \pm SD. The range of minimum and maximum
value for MO2 is provided.

	IW, g	FW, g	WG	SGR	MO ₂ , mg kg ⁻¹ h ⁻¹ (min-max)			
					Acclimation	Exercise	Recovery	
FM	6.3 ± 0.1	80.7 ± 12.1	74.4	2.0	225.1-267.9	187.5-404.3	190.3-248.5	
CGM	6.6 ± 0.1	74.1 ± 12.3	67.5	1.9	213.9-254.8	201.4-427.1	181.5-220.0	

The present study only applies to rainbow trout raised on CGM diet at 15 °C (IV). Hence, further research is also required for different fish species and different PPs at different rearing temperatures in order to have a more comprehensive understanding of the potential effect of PPs on MO_2 and swimming capacity of fish.

4 CONCLUSIONS

Regarding the objective of evaluating the applicability of stable isotope analysis in fish nutrition research and of the use of PPs (CGM, RPC and PoP) to substitute FM in feed for juvenile rainbow trout, it can be concluded that:

Growth of rainbow trout decreased with increasing level of PPs in 2 feeding experiments (I-IV). The ADC of crude protein in PPs decreased with increased substitution level of FM (II), and growth of the trout might be adversely affected by this decrease in protein ADC throughout the 2 feeding trials. After a dietary change, animals start to assimilate dietary C and N, and the assimilation rate is growth dependent. In the second feeding trial, FM group showed the highest growth followed by corn and potato treatment (III, IV). There was less change in the δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values present in the muscle and liver tissue from FM treatment during the 2 feeding trials (I, III), which indicated that faster growth of the fish in FM treatment accelerated the incorporation of dietary C and N into their tissues. The A¹⁵N values increased with the level of dietary PPs, and the growth differences induced by different levels of PPs were clearly indicated by the differences in $\Delta^{15}N$ values among dietary treatments within a tissue (I, II and III). Therefore, the $\Delta^{15}N$ value could be applied in fish nutrition research as an indicator for nutritional quality of dietary proteins.

The δ^{15} N value of the faeces was used to calculate the undigested fraction of PPs in the faeces, from which the ADC of PPs in the diet was estimated (II). However, the ADC estimation with stable isotopes should be further checked using digestion markers (*e.g.* chromic oxide). In previous studies, single diets, *i.e.* diets containing only 1 protein source, have been used to determine Δ for a specific protein source (Gamboa-Delgado *et al.* 2008, 2014, 2016). In the present study, the isotopic difference between the original tissue of fish and the dietary PP allowed the use of stable isotope mixing models to quantify C and N turnover in muscle and liver tissue (III). In addition, complete replacement of FM with CGM did not adversely affect the MO₂ and swimming performance of juvenile rainbow trout raised at 15 °C, during the swimming test in swimtunnel respirometer (IV). However, further research is required to examine thoroughly the potential effect of FM replacement with other PPs on MO₂ and swimming capacity of different carnivorous fish at different rearing temperatures.

The development of non-lethal approaches is very important from the perspective of both animal welfare and nutritional studies. In the present studies, similar patterns were observed from muscle and liver tissue (I) as seen from external mucus (I) and faeces (II) in terms of $\Delta^{15}N$ values. Faeces also could be used for determining ADC of dietary proteins. Most importantly, both mucus and faeces could be sampled without killing the experimental fish, and this could also prevent experimental error resulted from sampling of individual fish at each sampling point to check the time series change in isotope ratios.

Application of stable isotope analysis is limited to protein sources which have distinct difference in isotope ratios. Most of the PPs used in fish feed are C_3 plants which have very similar $\delta^{13}C$ values, and both of C_3 and C_4 plants are very close in terms of $\delta^{15}N$ value. However, the isotope ratios of the protein sources with similar isotope ratio could be grouped together using a simple mass balance mixing equation (Fry 2006). The PP-based single diets are not nutritionally adequate for carnivorous fish. In the present study, the $\delta^{15}N$ value of faeces from those fish raised on PP-based single diet was estimated using the negative correlation established between $\delta^{15}N$ value and dietary PP content (II). In experiments with stable isotopes, the most convenient way is to use nutritionally adequate protein sources which have distinct difference in terms of their natural abundance of isotope ratio. With all these pros and cons, stable isotope technique cannot replace conventional assessment of feed ingredients and feeds but can provide additional information provided the preconditions for using stable isotope analysis are met.

Acknowledgements

The experiments were carried out in the Department of Biological and Environmental Science. It has been a great pleasure to be part of this scientific community. I have been lucky enough to have four nice supervisors during this incredible journey. Professor Trond Storebakken has guided me into this exciting area of science, and he has also introduced me to my main supervisor Juhani Pirhonen. I have had countless discussions with Juhani about the data and manuscripts, and he has also helped me with the grant application, experiments and personal life. I would have had no chance to enter this amazing world of stable isotopes without the supervision of Mikko Kiljunen. The experimental diets were produced in Laukaa fish farm of the Natural Resources Institute with the kind help of Jouni Vielma and Juhani Pirhonen. I owe a big "KIITOS" to my supervisors for their enthusiastic help, immeasurable kindness and patience.

I also gratefully acknowledge the members from my follow-up group, colleagues, professors, technicians and MSc students from the department, as well as the professor and collaborator from other organizations, who, with their precious time and hard work, have contributed to the progress that has made this thesis possible. Professor Juha Karjalainen has given me very constructive feedback on my progress report. Minna-Maarit Kytöviita, her encouraging feedback and enthusiastic help with my plant experiment has also been the important part of my study. The experimental fish have been provided by Hanka-Taimen Ltd fish farm, and Juha Ahonen and Juhani have helped me with the transportation. Juha and Ahti Karusalmi have kindly helped me with the experimental set-up. The first experiment and data collection have been conducted by Lily Laine. Emmi Alanen has helped me with the feeding and sampling work. Ricardo Fernandes has given me detailed suggestions and scientific advices on the manuscript. Johannes Schilder has helped me with the lipid extraction experiment. Professor Roger Jones and Professor Mingan Choct have generously helped me with the language and scientific expression of the manuscript. I also express special thanks to the reviewers, Jari Syväranta and Professor Chris Harrod, of my thesis, for their critical evaluation, scientific comments and precious time.

I have not been able to complete this journey without the love, support and kindness from my family, my beautiful wife Yunru Bai and my kind colleagues Jukka Syrjänen, Timo Ruokonen, Katja Pulkkinen and Tuula Sinisalo and my friend Kati Kivisaari, Cedomir Stevcic and Pandy Salgado Ismodes. I have to express my special thank for Jukka Syrjänen and his family for their immeasurable kindness and hospitality.

This research has been funded by Research Foundation of Raisio Ltd, and it has also been partially supported by the University of Jyvaskyla. This thesis is a combined knowledge, experience and SISU through hard times. I have been embraced with kindness and care. Kiitos paljon.

YHTEENVETO (RÉSUMÉ IN FINNISH)

Vaihtoehtoiset menetelmät kalanrehujen proteiinilähteiden arvioimiseksi

Kalanrehujen koostumus on muuttunut merkittävästi viime vuosikymmeninä. Aikaisemmin suurin osa rehusta oli kalajauhoa, joka tuotettiin yleensä mm. pelagisista valtamerikaloista. Kalajauhon hinnan nousu ja kalanviljelytuotannon globaali kasvu ovat johtaneet siihen, että nykyrehuissa suurin osa kalajauhosta on korvattu erityisesti kasvisperäisillä, mutta myös muilla elintarviketeollisuuden sivutuotevirrasta ylijäävillä proteiineilla. Nämä korvaavat proteiinilähteet eivät ole sellaisenaan ravitsemuksellisesti optimaalisia varsinkaan petokaloille. Niille soveltuvien rehujen kehittäminen vaatii siis vielä paljon tutkimusta ja ravitsemuskokeiden menetelmien kehittämistä.

Ekologisessa tutkimuksessa on jo pitkään käytetty hiilen (C) ja typen (N) vakaita isotooppeja tutkittaessa aineen kulkeutumista ravintoverkossa trofiatasolta toiselle. Kun mahdollisten ravintolajien isotooppisuhteet tunnetaan, kuluttajan isotooppisuhteista voidaan arvioida kunkin ravintolajin osuus ravinnossa. Tässä tutkimuksessa sovellettiin samaa periaatetta: kun tiedetään rehun eri raaka-aineiden isotooppikoostumukset ja määrät rehussa, voidaan arvioida, missä määrin kala on hyödyntänyt kasvuunsa kutakin proteiinilähdettä. Tässä työssä tutkittiin mahdollisuutta käyttää vakaita C- ja Nisotooppeja kirjolohen (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) ravitsemustutkimuksessa. Lisäksi uintirasitustestin avulla tutkittiin rehun korkean kasviproteiiniosuuden vaikutusta kirjolohen suorituskykyyn.

Työssä käytettiin rypsiproteiinitiivistettä, perunaproteiinia ja maissigluteenijauhoa kalajauhoa korvaavina proteiinilähteinä. Rypsi- ja perunaproteiineja tutkittiin niiden kotimaisuuden vuoksi, mutta maissigluteenia käytettiin, koska sen C-isotooppikoostumus poikkeaa kaikista suomalaisista kasviproteiineista. Poikkeava isotooppikoostumus mahdollistaa koeasetelman, jossa voidaan vertailla samanaikaisesti useita proteiinilähteitä ja näiden seoksia. Rehun eri proteiinilähteiden hyödyntämistä mitattiin C- ja N- isotooppien avulla kalojen lihaksesta, maksasta, pintalimasta ja ulosteesta. Kaloja ei tarvitse lopettaa, kun mittaukset tehdään pintalimasta tai ulosteesta.

Tutkimuksessa selvisi, että kalajauhon korvaaminen kasviproteiineilla heikentää kalojen kasvua mutta ei vaikuta merkittävästi kalojen suorituskykyyn tai hapenkulutukseen uintirasituksessa. Tuloksissa näkyivät erilaisten koerehujen aiheuttamat isotooppimuutokset tutkituissa kudoksissa ja se, että muutokset tapahtuvat eri nopeudella eri kudoksissa. Vakaiden isotooppien käyttö kokeellisessa ravitsemustutkimuksessa on haastavaa, eikä menetelmä korvaa perinteisiä mittausmenetelmiä, mutta isotooppimittaukset täydentävät perinteisemmillä mittareilla saatavia tuloksia. Lisäksi osa näytteistä voidaan ottaa kaloja tappamatta, mikä mahdollistaa sen, että näytteitä voidaan ottaa useita kertoja samasta kalasta.

REFERENCES

- Anon. 2011. Basic concepts and methodology (ch. 2), Digestibility and availability (ch. 12). In: National Research Council (NRC) (ed.), Nutrient requirements of fish and shrimp. The National Academies Press, Washington, DC, pp. 6-14, 253–268.
- Anon. 2017. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) aquaculture newsletter 56, April 2017.
- Anon. 2018. Fishmeal monthly price. https://www.indexmundi.com/ commodities/?commodity=fish-meal&months=360 (Accessed 03.10.2018).
- Anon. 2018. R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.rproject.org/ (R version 3.5.1).
- Auerswald K., Wittmer M.H.O.M., Zazzo A., Schäufele R. & Schnyder H. 2010. Biases in the analysis of stable isotope discrimination in food webs. *J. Appl. Ecol.* 47: 936–941.
- Austreng E. 1978. Digestibility determination in fish using chromic oxide marking and analysis of contents from different segments of the gastrointestinal tract. *Aquaculture* 13: 265–272.
- Austreng E., Storebakken T., Thomassen M.S., Refstie S. & Thomassen Y. 2000. Evaluation of selected trivalent metal oxides as inert markers used to estimate apparent digestibility in salmonids. *Aquaculture* 188: 65–78.
- Badillo D., Herzka S.Z. & Viana M.T. 2014. Protein retention assessment of four levels of poultry by-product substitution of fishmeal in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) diets using stable isotopes of nitrogen (δ¹⁵N) as natural tracers. *PLoS One* 9, e107523.
- Barreto-Curiel F., Focken U., D'Abramo L.R., Cuarón J.A. & Viana M.T. 2018. Use of isotopic enrichment to assess the relationship among dietary protein levels, growth and nitrogen retention in juvenile *Totoaba macdonaldi*. *Aquaculture* 495: 794–802.
- Belal I.E.H. 2005. A review of some fish nutrition methodologies. *Bioresour. Technol.* 96: 395–402.
- Buchheister A. & Latour R.J. 2010. Turnover and fractionation of carbon and nitrogen stable isotopes in tissues of a migratory coastal predator, summer flounder (*Paralichthys dentatus*). *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 67: 445–461.
- Bureau D.P., Kaushik S.J. & Cho C.Y. 2003. Bioenergetics. In: Halver J.E. & Hardy R.W. (eds.), *Fish nutrition*, 3rd ed, Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 1–59.
- Burel C., Boujard T., Kaushik S.J., Boeuf G., Geyten S.V.D., Mol K.A., Kühn E.R., Quinsac A., Krouti M. & Ribaillier D. 2000. Potential of plant-protein sources as fish meal substitutes in diets for turbot (*Psetta maxima*): growth, nutrient utilisation and thyroid status. *Aquaculture* 188: 363–382.
- Cabral E.M., Bacelar M., Batista S., Castro-Cunha M., Ozório R.O.A. & Valente L.M.P. 2011. Replacement of fishmeal by increasing levels of plant protein

blends in diets for Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*) juveniles. *Aquaculture* 322–323: 74–81.

- de Carvalho R.A.P.L.F., Ota R.H., Kadry V.O., Tacon A.G.J. & Lemos D. 2016. Apparent digestibility of protein, energy and amino acids of six protein sources included at three levels in diets for juvenile white shrimp *Litopenaeus vannamei* reared in high performance conditions. *Aquaculture* 465: 223–234.
- Cashion T., Le Manach F., Zeller D. & Pauly D. 2017. Most fish destined for fishmeal production are food-grade fish. *Fish Fish.* 18: 837–844.
- Cerling T.E., Harris J.M., MacFadden B.J., Leakey M.G., Quade J., Eisenmann V.
 & Ehleringer J.R. 1997. Global vegetation change through the Miocene/Pliocene boundary. *Nature* 389: 153–158.
- Church M.R., Ebersole J.L., Rensmeyer K.M., Couture R.B., Barrows F.T. & Noakes D.L.G. 2009. Mucus: a new tissue fraction for rapid determination of fish diet switching using stable isotope analysis. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 66: 1–5.
- Cubero-Leon E., Peñalver R. & Maquet A. 2014. Review on metabolomics for food authentication. *Food Res. Int.* 60: 95–107.
- Davidson J., Barrows F.T., Kenney P.B., Good C., Schroyer K. & Summerfelt S.T. 2016. Effects of feeding a fishmeal-free versus a fishmeal-based diet on post-smolt Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* performance, water quality, and waste production in recirculation aquaculture systems. *Aquac. Eng.* 74: 38– 51.
- Dias J., Conceição L.E.C., Ribeiro A.R., Borges P., Valente L.M.P. & Dinis M.T. 2009. Practical diet with low fish-derived protein is able to sustain growth performance in gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*) during the grow-out phase. *Aquaculture* 293: 255–262.
- Draganovic V., van der Goot A.J., Boom R. & Jonkers J. 2011. Assessment of the effects of fish meal, wheat gluten, soy protein concentrate and feed moisture on extruder system parameters and the technical quality of fish feed. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 165: 238–250.
- Duodu C.P., Adjei-Boateng D., Edziyie R.E., Agbo N.W., Owusu-Boateng G., Larsen B.K. & Skov P.V. 2018. Processing techniques of selected oilseed byproducts of potential use in animal feed: Effects on proximate nutrient composition, amino acid profile and antinutrients. *Anim. Nutr.* xxx: 1–10.
- Enyidi U., Kiljunen M., Jones R.I., Pirhonen J. & Vielma J. 2013. nutrient assimilation by first-feeding African catfish, *Clarias gariepinus*, assessed using stable isotope analysis. *J. World Aquac. Soc.* 44: 161–172.
- Farquhar G.D., Ehleringer J.R. & Hubick K.T. 1989. Carbon isotope discrimination and photosynthesis. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.* 40: 503–537.
- Fernandes R., Millard A.R., Brabec M., Nadeau M.J. & Grootes P. 2014. Food reconstruction using isotopic transferred signals (FRUITS): A Bayesian model for diet reconstruction. *PLoS One* 9, e87436.

- Filbrun J.E. & Culver D.A. 2014. Stable isotopes reveal live prey support growth of juvenile channel catfish reared under intensive feeding regimens in ponds. *Aquaculture* 433: 125–132.
- Flachowsky G., Chesson A. & Aulrich K. 2005. Animal nutrition with feeds from genetically modified plants. *Arch. Anim. Nutr.* 59: 1–40.
- Focken U. 2004. Feeding fish with diets of different ratios of C₃- and C₄-plantderived ingredients: a laboratory analysis with implications for the backcalculation of diet from stable isotope data. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* 18: 2087–2092.
- Francesco M.D., Parisi G., Pérez-sánchez J., Gómez-réqueni P., Médale F., Kaushik S.J., Mecatti M. & Poli B.M. 2007. Effect of high-level fish meal replacement by plant proteins in gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*) on growth and body/fillet quality traits. *Aquac. Nutr.* 13: 361–372.
- Francis G., Makkar H.P.S. & Becker K. 2001. Antinutritional factors present in plant-derived alternate fish feed ingredients and their effects in fish. *Aquaculture* 199: 197–227.
- Fry B. 2006. Mixing (ch. 5), Fractionation (ch. 7). In: Fry B. (ed.), *Stable isotope ecology*, Springer, New York, pp. 119–182, 194–276.
- Fry B. & Arnold C. 1982. Rapid ¹³C/¹²C turnover during growth of brown shrimp (*Penaeus aztecus*). *Oecologia* 54: 200–204.
- Gamboa-Delgado J. & Le Vay L. 2009a. Natural stable isotopes as indicators of the relative contribution of soy protein and fish meal to tissue growth in Pacific white shrimp (*Litopenaeus vannamei*) fed compound diets. *Aquaculture* 291: 115–123.
- Gamboa-Delgado J. & Le Vay L. 2009b. Artemia replacement in co-feeding regimes for mysis and postlarval stages of *Litopenaeus vannamei*: Nutritional contribution of inert diets to tissue growth as indicated by natural carbon stable isotopes. *Aquaculture* 297: 128–135.
- Gamboa-Delgado J., Cañavate J.P., Zerolo R. & Le Vay L. 2008. Natural carbon stable isotope ratios as indicators of the relative contribution of live and inert diets to growth in larval Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*). *Aquaculture* 280: 190–197.
- Gamboa-Delgado J., Fernández-Díaz B., Nieto-López M. & Cruz-Suárez L.E. 2016. Nutritional contribution of torula yeast and fish meal to the growth of shrimp *Litopenaeus vannamei* as indicated by natural nitrogen stable isotopes. *Aquaculture* 453: 116–121.
- Gamboa-Delgado J., Rojas-Casas M.G., Nieto-López M.G. & Cruz-Suárez L.E. 2013. Simultaneous estimation of the nutritional contribution of fish meal, soy protein isolate and corn gluten to the growth of Pacific white shrimp (*Litopenaeus vannamei*) using dual stable isotope analysis. *Aquaculture* 380-383: 33-40.
- Gamboa-Delgado J., de Dios Castañeda-Solís J., Nieto-López M.G., Villarreal-Cavazos D. & Cruz-Suárez L.E. 2014. Isotopic evaluation of the nutritional contribution of poultry by-product meal and fish meal to the growth of Pacific white shrimp, *Litopenaeus vannamei*. J. World Aquac. Soc. 45: 430–438.

- Gannes L.Z., del Rio C.M. & Koch P. 1998. Natural abundance variations in stable isotopes and their potential uses in animal physiological ecology. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A Mol. Integr. Physiol.* 119: 725–737.
- Gatlin D.M., Barrows F.T., Brown P., Dabrowski K., Gaylord T.G., Hardy R.W., Herman E., Hu G., Krogdahl Å., Nelson R., Overturf K., Rust M., Sealey W., Skonberg D., Souza E.J., Stone D., Wilson R. & Wurtele E. 2007. Expanding the utilization of sustainable plant products in aquafeeds: a review. *Aquac. Res.* 38: 551–579.
- Gong Y., Guterres H.A.D.S., Huntley M., Sørensen M. & Kiron V. 2017. Digestibility of the defatted microalgae *Nannochloropsis* sp. and *Desmodesmus* sp. when fed to Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar. Aquac. Nutr.* 24: 56–64.
- Hardy R.W. 2010. Utilization of plant proteins in fish diets: effects of global demand and supplies of fishmeal. *Aquac. Res.* 41: 770–776.
- Harrod C., Grey J., McCarthy T.K. & Morrissey M. 2005. Stable isotope analyses provide new insights into ecological plasticity in a mixohaline population of European eel. *Oecologia* 144: 673–683.
- Herzka S.Z. 2005. Assessing connectivity of estuarine fishes based on stable isotope ratio analysis. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 64: 58–69.
- Hesslein R.H., Hallard K.A. & Ramlal P. 1993. Replacement of sulfur, carbon, and nitrogen in tissue of growing broad whitefish (*Coregonus nasus*) in response to a change in diet traced by δ^{34} S, δ^{13} C, and δ^{15} N. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 50: 2071–2076.
- Jobling M. 1994. Fish bioenergetics. Chapman & Hall, London.
- Jobling M. 2016. Fish nutrition research: past, present and future. *Aquac. Int.* 24: 767–786.
- Johnsen C.A., Hagen Ø. & Bendiksen E.Å. 2011. Long-term effects of highenergy, low-fishmeal feeds on growth and flesh characteristics of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Aquaculture 312: 109–116.
- Jones R.I., Grey J., Sleep D. & Quarmby C. 1998. An assessment, using stable isotopes, of the importance of allochthonous organic carbon sources to the pelagic food web in Loch Ness. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 265: 105–111.
- Kaczanowski T.C. & Beamish F.W.H. 1996. Dietary essential amino acids and heat increment in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Fish Physiol. Biochem.* 15: 105–120.
- Kaushik S.J., Covès D., Dutto G. & Blanc D. 2004. Almost total replacement of fish meal by plant protein sources in the diet of a marine teleost, the European seabass, *Dicentrarchus labrax*. *Aquaculture* 230: 391–404.
- Kiessling A., Pickova J., Eales J.G., Dosanjh B. & Higgs D. 2005. Age, ration level, and exercise affect the fatty acid profile of chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) muscle differently. *Aquaculture* 243: 345–356.
- Kikuchi K. 2007. Partial replacement of fish meal with corn gluten meal in diets for Japanese flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus*. J. World Aquac. Soc. 30: 357–363.
- Kokou F. & Fountoulaki E. 2018. Aquaculture waste production associated with antinutrient presence in common fish feed plant ingredients. *Aquaculture* 495: 295–310.

- Lazzarotto V., Médale F., Larroquet L. & Corraze G. 2018. Long-term dietary replacement of fishmeal and fish oil in diets for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*): Effects on growth, whole body fatty acids and intestinal and hepatic gene expression. *PLoS One* 13: e0190730.
- Lupatsch I., Kissil G.W., Sklan D. & Pfeffer E. 2003. Apparent digestibility coefficients of feed ingredients and their predictability in compound diets for gilthead seabream, *Sparus aurata* L. *Aquac. Nutr.* 3: 81–89.
- Marcó A., Rubio R., Compañó R. & Casals I. 2002. Comparison of the Kjeldahl method and a combustion method for total nitrogen determination in animal feed. *Talanta* 57: 1019–1026.
- Martínez del Rio C. & Carleton S.A. 2012. How fast and how faithful: the dynamics of isotopic incorporation into animal tissues. *J. Mammal.* 93: 353–359.
- Martínez del Rio C. & Wolf B.O. 2005. Mass-balance models for animal isotopic ecology. In: Starck J.M. & Wang T. (eds.), *Physiological and ecological adaptations to feeding in vertebrates*, Science Publishers, Enfield, NH, pp. 141– 174.
- Maruyama A., Yamada Y., Rusuwa B. & Yuma M. 2001. Change in stable nitrogen isotope ratio in the muscle tissue of a migratory goby, *Rhinogobius* sp., in a natural setting. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 58: 2125–2128.
- McDonald P., Edwards R.A., Greenhalgh J.F.D., Morgan C.A., Sinclair L.A. & Wilkinson R.G. 2011. The animal and its food (ch. 1), Cereal grains and cereal by-products (ch. 22). In: McDonald P., Edwards R.A., Greenhalgh J.F.D., Morgan C.A., Sinclair L.A. & Wilkinson R.G. (eds.), *Animal nutrition*, 7th ed., Prentice Hall, London, pp. 3–15, 541–562.
- Men K., Ai Q., Mai K., Xu W., Zhang Y. & Zhou H. 2014. Effects of dietary corn gluten meal on growth, digestion and protein metabolism in relation to IGF-I gene expression of Japanese seabass, *Lateolabrax japonicus*. *Aquaculture* 428–429: 303–309.
- Moore J.C., DeVries J.W., Lipp M., Griffiths J.C. & Abernethy D.R. 2010. Total protein methods and their potential utility to reduce the risk of food protein adulteration. *Compr. Rev. Food Sci. Food Saf.* 9: 330–357.
- Naylor R.L., Goldburg R.J., Primavera J.H., Kautsky N., Beveridge M.C.M., Clay J., Folke C., Lubchenco J., Mooney H. & Troell M. 2000. Effect of aquaculture on world fish supplies. *Nature* 405: 1017–1024.
- Nikki J., Pirhonen J., Jobling M. & Karjalainen J. 2004. Compensatory growth in juvenile rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum), held individually. *Aquaculture* 235: 285–296.
- Oliveira A.C.B., Martinelli L.A., Moreira M.Z. & Cyrino J.E.P. 2007. Determination of apparent digestibility coefficient in fish by stable carbon isotopes. *Aquac. Nutr.* 14: 10–13.
- Otter D.E. 2012. Standardised methods for amino acid analysis of food. *Br. J. Nutr.* 108: S230–S237.
- Panserat S., Hortopan G.A., Plagnes-Juan E., Kolditz C., Lansard M., Skiba-Cassy S., Esquerré D., Geurden I., Médale F., Kaushik S. & Corraze G. 2009. Differential gene expression after total replacement of dietary fish meal and

fish oil by plant products in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) liver. *Aquaculture* 294: 123–131.

- Parnell A.C., Inger R., Bearhop S. & Jackson A.L. 2010. Source partitioning using stable isotopes: coping with too much variation. *PLoS One* 5, e9672.
- Pereira T. & Oliva-Teles A. 2003. Evaluation of corn gluten meal as a protein source in diets for gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata* L.) juveniles. *Aquac. Res.* 34: 1111–1117.
- Phillips D.L. 2012. Converting isotope values to diet composition: the use of mixing models. *J. Mammal.* 93: 342–352.
- Phillips D.L. & Gregg J.W. 2001. Uncertainty in source partitioning using stable isotopes. *Oecologia* 127: 171–179.
- Phillips D.L. & Gregg J.W. 2003. Source partitioning using stable isotopes: coping with too many sources. *Oecologia* 136: 261–269.
- Phillips D.L. & Koch P.L. 2002. Incorporating concentration dependence in stable isotope mixing models. *Oecologia* 130: 114–125.
- Phillips D.L., Newsome S.D. & Gregg J.W. 2005. Combining sources in stable isotope mixing models: alternative methods. *Oecologia* 144: 520–527.
- Phillips D.L., Inger R., Bearhop S., Jackson A.L., Moore J.W., Parnell A.C., Semmens B.X. & Ward E.J. 2014. Best practices for use of stable isotope mixing models in food-web studies. *Can. J. Zool.* 92: 823–835.
- Post D.M. 2002. Using stable isotopes to estimate trophic position: models, methods, and assumptions. *Ecology* 83: 703–718.
- Pratoomyot J., Bendiksen E.Å., Bell J.G. & Tocher D.R. 2010. Effects of increasing replacement of dietary fishmeal with plant protein sources on growth performance and body lipid composition of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). *Aquaculture* 305: 124–132.
- Pusztai A. & Bardocz S. 2006. GMO in animal nutrition: potential benefits and risks (ch. 17). In: Mosenthin R., Zentek J. & Żebrowska T. (eds.), *Biology of nutrition in growing animals*, Elsevier, pp. 513–540.
- Quezada-Romegialli C., Jackson A.L., Hayden B., Kahilainen K.K., Lopes C. & Harrod C. 2018. tRophicPosition, an R package for the Bayesian estimation of trophic position from consumer stable isotope ratios. *Methods Ecol. Evol.* 9: 1592–1599.
- Raboy V. 2001. Seeds for a better future: 'low phytate' grains help to overcome malnutrition and reduce pollution. *Trends Plant Sci.* 6: 458–462.
- Regost C., Arzel J. & Kaushik S.J. 1999. Partial or total replacement of fish meal by corn gluten meal in diet for turbot (*Psetta maxima*). *Aquaculture* 180: 99– 117.
- Rimoldi S., Bossi E., Harpaz S., Cattaneo A.G., Bernardini G., Saroglia M. & Terova G. 2015. Intestinal B⁰AT1 (SLC6A19) and PEPT1 (SLC15A1) mRNA levels in European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) reared in fresh water and fed fish and plant protein sources. *J. Nutr. Sci.* 4, e21.
- Rodrigues P.M., Silva T.S., Dias J. & Jessen F. 2012. PROTEOMICS in aquaculture: applications and trends. *J. Proteomics* 75: 4325–4345.

- Saez P.J., Abdel-Aal E.-S.M. & Bureau D.P. 2014. Feeding increasing levels of corn gluten meal induces suboptimal muscle pigmentation of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Aquac. Res.* 47: 1972–1983.
- Sakano H., Fujiwara E., Nohara S. & Ueda H. 2005. Estimation of nitrogen stable isotope turnover rate of *Oncorhynchus nerka*. *Environ. Biol. Fishes* 72: 13–18.
- Saravanan S., Geurden I., Figueiredo-Silva A.C., Kaushik S., Verreth J. & Schrama J.W. 2013a. Voluntary feed intake in rainbow trout is regulated by diet-induced differences in oxygen use. *J. Nutr.* 143: 781–787.
- Saravanan S., Geurden I., Figueiredo-Silva A.C., Kaushik S.J., Haidar M.N., Verreth J.A.J. & Schrama J.W. 2012. Control of voluntary feed intake in fish: a role for dietary oxygen demand in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) fed diets with different macronutrient profiles. *Br. J. Nutr.* 108: 1519–1529.
- Saravanan S., Geurden I., Figueiredo-Silva A.C., Nusantoro S., Kaushik S., Verreth J. & Schrama J.W. 2013b. Oxygen consumption constrains food intake in fish fed diets varying in essential amino acid composition. *PLoS One* 8, e72757.
- Salze G.P. & Davis D.A. 2015. Taurine: a critical nutrient for future fish feeds. *Aquaculture* 437: 215–229.
- Schlechtriem C., Focken U. & Becker K. 2004. Stable isotopes as a tool for nutrient assimilation studies in larval fish feeding on live food. *Aquat. Ecol.* 38: 93–100.
- Slawski H., Adem H., Tressel R.P., Wysujack K., Koops U., Kotzamanis Y., Wuertz S. & Schulz C. 2012. Total fish meal replacement with rapeseed protein concentrate in diets fed to rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum). *Aquac. Int.* 20: 443–453.
- Stock B.C., Jackson A.L., Ward E.J., Parnell A.C., Phillips D.L. & Semmens B.X. 2018. Analyzing mixing systems using a new generation of Bayesian tracer mixing models. *PeerJ Prepr.* 6, e26884v1.
- Stone D.A.J., Hardy R.W., Barrows F.T. & Cheng Z.J. 2005. Effects of extrusion on nutritional value of diets containing corn gluten meal and corn distiller's dried grain for rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. J. Appl. Aquac. 17: 1–20.
- Storebakken T., Kvien I.S., Shearer K.D., Grisdale-Helland B., Helland S.J. & Berge G.M. 1998. The apparent digestibility of diets containing fish meal, soybean meal or bacterial meal fed to Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): evaluation of different faecal collection methods. *Aquaculture* 169: 195–210.
- Storebakken T., Zhang Y., Ma J., Øverland M., Mydland L.T., Kraugerud O.F., Apper E. & Feneuil A. 2015. Feed technological and nutritional properties of hydrolyzed wheat gluten when used as a main source of protein in extruded diets for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture 448: 214–218.
- Sutka R.L., Adams G.C., Ostrom N.E. & Ostrom P.H. 2008. Isotopologue fractionation during N₂O production by fungal denitrification. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* 22: 3989–3996.
- Syväranta J., Cucherousset J., Kopp D., Martino A., Céréghino R. & Santoul F. 2009. Contribution of anadromous fish to the diet of European catfish in a large river system. *Naturwissenschaften* 96: 631–635.

- Tacchi L., Secombes C.J., Bickerdike R., Adler M.A., Venegas C., Takle H. & Martin S.A.M. 2012. Transcriptomic and physiological responses to fishmeal substitution with plant proteins in formulated feed in farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *BMC Genomics* 13, 363.
- Terova G., Robaina L., Izquierdo M., Cattaneo A., Molinari S., Bernardini G. & Saroglia M. 2013. PepT1 mRNA expression levels in sea bream (*Sparus aurata*) fed different plant protein sources. *Springerplus* 2, 17.
- Teskeredžić Z., Higgs D.A., Dosanjh B.S., McBride J.R., Hardy R.W., Beames R.M., Jones J.D., Simell M., Vaara T. & Bridges R.B. 1995. Assessment of undephytinized and dephytinized rapeseed protein concentrate as sources of dietary protein for juvenile rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Aquaculture* 131: 261–277.
- Tusche K., Berends K., Wuertz S., Susenbeth A. & Schulz C. 2011b. Evaluation of feed attractants in potato protein concentrate based diets for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Aquaculture* 321: 54–60.
- Tusche K., Nagel F., Arning S., Wuertz S., Susenbeth A. & Schulz C. 2013. Effect of different dietary levels of potato protein concentrate supplemented with feed attractants on growth performance of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 183: 202–209.
- Tusche K., Wuertz S., Susenbeth A. & Schulz C. 2011a. Feeding fish according to organic aquaculture guidelines EC 710/2009: Influence of potato protein concentrates containing various glycoalkaloid levels on health status and growth performance of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Aquaculture* 319: 122–131.
- Urán P.A., Schrama J.W., Rombout J.H.W.M., Obach A., Jensen L., Koppe W. & Verreth J.A.J. 2008. Soybean meal-induced enteritis in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) at different temperatures. *Aquac. Nutr.* 14: 324–330.
- Le Vay L. & Gamboa-Delgado J. 2011. Naturally-occurring stable isotopes as direct measures of larval feeding efficiency, nutrient incorporation and turnover. *Aquaculture* 315: 95–103.
- Vera L.M., Metochis C., Taylor J.F., Clarkson M., Skjærven K.H., Migaud H. & Tocher D.R. 2017. Early nutritional programming affects liver transcriptome in diploid and triploid Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar. BMC Genomics* 18: 886.
- Watanabe T., Takeuchi T., Satoh S. & Kiron V. 1996. Digestible energy: methodological influences and a mode of calculation. *Fish. Sci.* 62: 288–292.
- Wilson C.M., Friesen E.N., Higgs D.A. & Farrell A.P. 2007. The effect of dietary lipid and protein source on the swimming performance, recovery ability and oxygen consumption of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Aquaculture* 273: 687–699.
- Xia B., Gao Q.F., Li H., Dong S.L. & Wang F. 2013. Turnover and fractionation of nitrogen stable isotope in tissues of grass carp *Ctenopharyngodon idellus*. *Aquac. Environ. Interact.* 3: 177–186.
- Yamaji N., Takemoto Y., Miyaji T., Mitani-Ueno N., Yoshida K.T. & Ma J.F. 2016. Reducing phosphorus accumulation in rice grains with an impaired transporter in the node. *Nature* 541: 92–95.

- Ytrestøyl T., Aas T.S. & Åsgård T. 2015. Utilisation of feed resources in production of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) in Norway. *Aquaculture* 448: 365–374.
- Vander Zanden M.J., Clayton M.K., Moody E.K., Solomon C.T. & Weidel B.C. 2015. Stable isotope turnover and half-life in animal tissues: a literature synthesis. *PLoS One* 10, e0116182.
- Zapata D.B., Lazo J.P., Herzka S.Z. & Viana M.T. 2016. The effect of substituting fishmeal with poultry by-product meal in diets for *Totoaba macdonaldi* juveniles. *Aquac. Res.* 47: 1778–1789.
- Zhang Y., Øverland M., Shearer K.D., Sørensen M., Mydland L.T. & Storebakken T. 2012. Optimizing plant protein combinations in fish mealfree diets for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) by a mixture model. *Aquaculture* 360–361: 25–36.
- Zhou H., Chen G., Gu B. & Lin X. 2016. Relative contribution of alternative proteins to the growth of juvenile cobia, *Rachycentron canadum* (Linnaeus). *Aquac. Res.* 47: 1639–1651.
- Zhou Z., Ringø E., Olsen R.E. & Song S.K. 2017. Dietary effects of soybean products on gut microbiota and immunity of aquatic animals: A review. *Aquac. Nutr.* 24: 644–665.

ORIGINAL PAPERS

Ι

DIETARY FISHMEAL REPLACEMENT BY PLANT PROTEIN SOURCES DECREASES GROWTH AND INDUCES A SHIFT IN $\delta^{15}N$ IN RAINBOW TROUT, ONCORHYNCHUS MYKISS

by

Gerile Siqin, Lily Laine, Jouni Vielma, Mikko Kiljunen, Trond Storebakken & Juhani

Pirhonen 2018

Manuscript

Request a copy from author.



ΙΙ

ESTIMATION OF APPARENT DIGESTIBILITY COEFFICIENT OF PLANT PROTEINS WITH NITROGEN STABLE ISOTOPE RATIO IN JUVENILE RAINBOW TROUT (*ONCORHYNCHUS MYKISS*)

by

Gerile Siqin, Lily Laine, Mikko Kiljunen, Jouni Vielma & Juhani Pirhonen 2018

Manuscript

Request a copy from author.

III

BAYESIAN QUANTIFICATION OF CARBON AND NITROGEN TURNOVER IN RAINBOW TROUT (ONCORHYNCHUS MYKISS) FED PLANT-BASED DIET

by

Gerile Siqin, Mikko Kiljunen, Jouni Vielma, Ricardo Fernandes & Juhani Pirhonen 2018

Manuscript

Request a copy from author.

IV

REPLACEMENT OF FISHMEAL WITH CORN GLUTEN MEAL IN FEEDS FOR JUVENILE RAINBOW TROUT (*ONCORHYNCHUS MYKISS*) DOES NOT AFFECT OXYGEN CONSUMPTION DURING FORCED SWIMMING

by

Gerile Siqin & Juhani Pirhonen 2017

Aquaculture 479: 616–618.

Printed with kind permission of Elsevier

Aquaculture 479 (2017) 616–618

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Aquaculture

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/aquaculture

Short communication

Replacement of fishmeal with corn gluten meal in feeds for juvenile rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) does not affect oxygen consumption during forced swimming

Siqin Gerile, Juhani Pirhonen*

University of Jyvaskyla, Department of Biological and Environmental Science, P.O. Box 35, FI-40014 University of Jyvaskyla, Finland

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Salmonids Metabolic rate Swimming respirometer Fishmeal replacement Protein sources

ABSTRACT

We compared oxygen consumption (MO₂, mg/kg/h) of c. 80 g rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) in an intermittent-flow swim respirometer at 15 °C. Before the tests the fish were grown in flow through tanks (15 °C) with either fishmeal (FM) or corn gluten meal (CGM) based diets (c. 52% protein) for a period of 3–4.5 months. Ten individuals from both treatment groups were fasted for 48 h before the swim test, which consisted of 18 loops of 210 s over three different periods: acclimation period (6 loops at 0.5 body lengths per s, BL/s), exercise period (8 loops at 0.5 BL/s). We did not observe significant differences in MO₂ between the two groups at any of the three measurement periods (repeated measures-Anova). The maximum (mean \pm SE) MO₂ values, measured during the last exercise period at 2.5 BL/s, did not differ significantly between the treatments: 404 ± 18.7 mg/kg/h and 427 \pm 50.6 mg/kg/h in FM and CGM groups, respectively. Our result supports an earlier finding that origin of the protein does not affect MO₂ during swimming in salmonids. This is the first report of the effect of a plant protein on MO₂ of a carnivorous fish during forced swimming, and these data lend support to further development of sustainable diets to replace fishmeal with plant proteins.

1. Introduction

Traditionally the feeds for carnivorous fishes have contained fishmeal (FM) as protein source. However, there is a high demand for the development of fish feeds with alternative protein sources, firstly due to dwindling marine fish stocks and a consequent rise with wide temporal variation in FM market price (Indexmundi, 2017) and secondly due to the need for more sustainable aquaculture production. The use of FM alternatives is likely to increase even more in the coming decades (Engle et al., 2017). FM in fish feeds is typically replaced with plant proteins, and the most common alternative is soybean meal but also corn gluten meal (CGM) has been used widely (Gatlin et al., 2007).

Metabolism (heat production) in fish has conventionally been estimated indirectly by measuring oxygen consumption in a respirometer. To the best of our knowledge there are no reports of experiments for swimming metabolism, *i.e.* O_2 consumption (MO_2 , mg/kg/h) during forced swimming (Cech, 1990), between the fish fed with either FM or plant protein based diets. Wilson et al. (2007) measured MO_2 , swimming capacity and recovery from swimming of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) fed diets differing in lipid (fish oil, poultry fat and vegetable oils) and protein (FM and poultry by-product meal) source and found no significant differences between the dietary groups.

As the use of plant proteins in feeds for carnivorous fish is increasing, it would be important to know whether their use affects the swimming performance and MO_2 of fish. In this experiment, we measured swimming metabolism of juvenile rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) which had been reared on two extreme experimental diets: one with FM and the other one with CGM as the only protein source. The fish fed with CGM diet did not grow to the swim test size as fast the fish fed FM diet, which may have led to changes in muscle tissues and consequently decreased the swimming capacity (Kiessling et al., 1989; Pelletier et al., 1993; Weber et al., 2016). Our hypothesis was that the performance (lower capability to maintain high swimming speed and higher MO₂ during exercise and recovery) of the fish fed CGM diet would be inferior to that of the fish fed FM diet.

2. Materials and methods

The measurements were conducted in the wet laboratory of the University of Jyväskylä, Finland. The all-female rainbow trout

Available online 05 July 2017





CrossMark

Abbreviations: BL, body lengths; CF, condition factor; CGM, corn gluten meal; FM, fishmeal; MO_2 , oxygen consumption (mg/kg/h) * Corresponding author.

E-mail addresses: siqingerile.s.siqingerile@student.jyu.fi (S. Gerile), juhani.pirhonen@jyu.fi (J. Pirhonen).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2017.07.002

Received 31 March 2017; Received in revised form 30 June 2017; Accepted 3 July 2017

Table 1

Formulation and composition of experimental diets (CGM = corn gluten meal based diet, FM = fishmeal based diet) fed to juvenile rainbow trout before tests in the swim respirometer.

Ingredient	CGM (g/kg)	FM (g/kg)
Fish meal	0	755
Corn gluten meal	730	0
Cellulose	42	65
Corn starch	40	58
Wheat starch	0.0	20
Fish oil	82	82
Fish protein hydrolysate	10	0
Vitamin premix ^a	20	20
Methionine	5	0
Lysine	25	0
Threonine	10	0
Monocalcium phosphate	36	0
Proximate composition		
Protein (g/kg)	534 ± 53	515 ± 52
Fat (g/kg)	164 ± 16	161 ± 16
Ash (g/kg)	57 ± 9	105 ± 16
Fiber (g/kg)	< 10	< 10
Moisture (%)	5.0	6.8
Gross energy (kJ/g) ^b	22.4	21.0

^a Vitamins added to supply the following $(kg^{-1} \text{ diet})$: retinol acetate, 8000 IU; cholecalciferol, 3000 IU; all-race-alfa-tocopherol acetate, 300 IU; menadione sodium bisulfite, 10 mg; thiamine HCL, 20 mg; riboflavin, 30 mg; calcium v-pantothenate, 90 mg; biotin, 0.3 mg; folic acid, 6 mg; vitamin B12, 0.04 mg; niacin, 120 mg; pyridoxine HCl, 20 mg; ascorbic acid (Stay C), 300 mg; inositol, 200 mg. Minerals added to supply the following (mg kg⁻¹ diet): zinc, 150; manganese, 60; iodine, 4.

 $^{\rm b}$ Gross energy was calculated based on energy content of protein (24 kJ/g), lipids (39 kJ/g) and carbohydrates (17 kJ/g). See text for details of calculation.

Table 2

The average \pm SE (n = 10) weight, total length, and condition factor of juvenile rainbow trout fed experimental diets (CGM = corn gluten meal based diet, FM = fishmeal based diet) and used in the swim respirometer test.

	CGM	FM
Length, cm Weight, g Condition factor	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 19.1 \ \pm \ 0.3 \\ 74.1 \ \pm \ 3.9 \\ 1.05 \ \pm \ 0.03 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$

There were no statistically significant differences (P > 0.05, t-test) between the treatments in these variables.

originated from a commercial fish farm (Venekoski farm, Hanka-Taimen Ltd.) and they were brought to our facilities on 16 June 2016 at the size of c. 6.1 g. The fish were used in a feeding trial where they were fed the extruded FM and CGM diets (Table 1) for seven weeks. Then, fish from the replicate tanks of each dietary treatment (FM and CGM) were combined and held in two aerated 500 L flow-through tanks (temperature 14.8-15.2 °C, oxygen 8.5-9.5 mg/L) where they were fed the same feed formulations but at larger pellet sizes than previously. The fish fed FM grew faster than those given CGM, and in an attempt to avoid the confounding effects of fish size on oxygen consumption the swimming tests were carried out at different times on the two groups of fish. The fish fed FM were tested on 19-23 September, and the fish fed CGM were tested on 31 October-4 November 2016. There were no significant differences (t-test, n = 10) between the fish in weight, total length or condition factor (CF = weight (g) / length (cm)³ * 100) at the time of testing (Table 2). Before the swimming tests and measurements of oxygen consumption, the fish were held individually without food for c. 48 h in 15 L flow-through aquaria at 15 °C to reduce the effect of food digestion and processing on oxygen consumption (SDA) (Jobling, 1994). Water in the laboratory was filtered water from a bore-hole, and photoperiod was 12L:12D.

The experimental diets were analysed for dry matter and moisture (ISO 6496-M), crude protein (EN ISO 5983-2), crude fat (EC Dir 98/64;

EU DIR 71/393), crude fiber (ISO 5498) and ash (ISO 5984) at Eurofins Scientific Finland Ltd. Carbohydrates were calculated by decreasing the sum of analysed components from 100 (McDonald et al., 2011); fiber was not included in this calculation because it was under the detection limit. The gross energy content of the diets was proximately calculated using standard conversion factors for carbohydrates (17 kJ/g), protein (24 kJ/g) and lipids (39 kJ/g) (Jobling, 1994) (Table 1).

The respirometer experiments were carried out using a 10 L swim tunnel respirometer, connected to an OXY-4 oxygen meter with an optical sensor (system manufacturer: Loligo Systems, Viborg, Denmark). According to the manufacturer, the 10 L swim respirometer is suitable for fishes in the range of 50 to 150 g. Before placing the fish into the swim chamber, it was netted out from the aquarium, weighed (to 0.1 g) in a bucket with c. 3 L of water, and the total length was taken (to 1 mm). Immediately after these measurements, the fish was placed into the respirometer chamber, and the computer-assisted intermittent measurement was started. Water temperature during the measurements varied between 14.6 and 15.4 °C.

Each measurement in the respirometer consisted of 18 loops, 210 s each. As the measurement was intermittent, each of the loops was set to contain three stages: 1) flush period of 90 s (oxygenated water pumped into the chamber from the surrounding water bath), 2) wait period of 60 s (flush pump was stopped *i.e.* chamber was closed, and O₂ concentration was let to equilibrate) and 3) a 60 s measurement period (chamber closed). Based on the decrease of O₂ concentration during the 60 s measurement period, the AutoResp software (Loligo Systems, Viborg, Denmark) calculated MO₂ for each loop.

Water speed in the respirometer was adjusted to match the fish total length. At the start of the measurement period the fish was let to recover from handling for a period of six loops at the water speed of 0.5 BL/s. After the recovery period, water speed was increased by 0.5 BL/s steps up to 2.5 BL/s, and by giving the fish a recovery loop (at 0.5 BL/s) after each exercise loop, *i.e.* 1.0, 0.5, 1.5, 0.5, 2.0, 0.5 BL/s. Finally, the speed was increased to 2.5 BL/s for two consecutive loops, after which the fish was let to recover from the exercise for a period of four loops. After the measurement was ended, the fish was netted out of the chamber and killed with a sharp blow on the head.

The rear of the chamber was equipped with an electric grid (DC 3.5 V), which would have been turned on in the case the fish started to lean with the tail against it, but this did not happen in our experiment. The experiment was done with the permission ESAVI/10412/04.10.07/2015 from the Animal Experiment Board of Finland.

The possible difference in MO₂ between the two treatments was tested by repeated measures Anova using IBM SPSS statistics 24.0 software. We tested the possible difference between the two treatments separately for the whole experimental period (18 loops), for the acclimation period (first 6 loops), for the exercise period (8 loops after acclimation) and for the final recovery period (last 4 loops). We also compared the possible difference in MO₂ at the highest test velocity (the second 2.5 BL/s loop) using Mann-Whitney *U* test. Each individual was used as an observation, *i.e.* n = 10, and P < 0.05 was set as the level for a statistically significant difference.

3. Results and discussion

Rainbow trout of the FM and CGM groups performed equally in terms of MO_2 (Fig. 1). There were no significant differences in their MO_2 when calculated for the whole experimental period (P = 0.795), for the acclimation period (P = 0.514), for the exercise period (P = 0.795) and for the final recovery period (P = 0.366). The maximum (mean \pm SE) MO_2 during the second 2.5 BL/s velocity (loop 14) were 404 \pm 18.7 mg/kg/h and 427 \pm 50.6 mg/kg/h in FM and CGM groups, respectively, without being significantly different (P = 0.257) (Fig. 1). As such, we conclude that feeding a diet based on CGM as the only protein source does not affect oxygen consumption in rainbow trout when swimming.

S. Gerile, J. Pirhonen



Fig. 1. The mean (\pm SE, n = 10) oxygen consumption (MO₂) of juvenile rainbow trout fed diets containing fishmeal (FM) or corn gluten meal (CGM) during the 18-loop swim respirometry test. Each loop lasted for 210 s. Swimming speed was 0.5 BL/s except during the loops 7, 9, 11, 13 and 14, as indicated by the values above the x-axis. There were no statistically significant differences (P > 0.05, RM Anova) between the treatments.

It must be noted that the feeds differed in terms of their composition: only the CMG diet contained added amino acids and fish protein hydrolysate. The lysine and methionine are considered as limited essential amino acids both in cereal grains and in their by-products (McDonald et al., 2011). In the present study the amino acids and fish protein hydrolysate were supplemented to avoid the typical deficiency of certain amino acids of plant proteins, especially lysine in CGM (Gatlin et al., 2007), and the decrease in feed palatability. Our unpublished experiments have shown low palatability of CGM based diets as such.

The absence of difference in oxygen consumption in rainbow trout fed FM or CGM diets concurs with the results of Wilson et al. (2007). They grew Atlantic salmon (from 84 g to c. 0.5 kg) with feeds containing different sources for lipids and proteins and then tested the fish for oxygen consumption, swimming performance and recovery from exhaustive exercise at 9 °C without finding any significant differences between the dietary treatments. The result of the current experiment and those of Wilson et al. (2007) suggest that swimming performance, and MO₂ during exercise and recovery from swimming of 24 h (Wilson Aquaculture 479 (2017) 616–618

et al., 2007) or 48 h (the present experiment) starved fish would not be affected by the protein source.

This is likely the first experiment looking at the potential effects of plant proteins on swimming performance and MO_2 in fish. Despite the fish fed CGM grew slower than the fish fed FM based diet, the current result regarding fish performance during forced swimming is promising for the feed industry and for further development of more sustainable fish feeds. However, it must be noted in the present experiment we tested only the effects of one plant protein (corn gluten meal) on oxygen consumption during forced swimming in juvenile rainbow trout at c. 15 °C. Thus, a more comprehensive research is needed to confirm if our finding is universal, *i.e.* whether it applies to other plant proteins and other carnivorous fish, also at sub- and supraoptimal temperatures.

Acknowledgments

This study was financially supported by the Research Foundation of Raisio Ltd. The experimental fish were donated by Hanka-Taimen Ltd.

References

- Cech Jr., J.J., 1990. Respirometry. In: Schreck, C.B., Moyle, P.B. (Eds.), Methods for Fish Biology. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, MD, USA, pp. 335–362.
- Engle, C.R., D'Abramo, L., Ponniah, A.G., Slater, M., 2017. Global aquaculture 2050. J. World Aquacult. Soc. 48, 3–6.
- Gatlin, D.M., Barrows, F.T., Brown, P., Dabrowski, K., Gaylord, T.G., Hardy, R.W., Herman, E., Hu, G., Krogdahl, A., Nelson, R., Overturf, K., Rust, M., Sealey, W., Skonberg, D., Souza, J., Stone, D., Wilson, R., Wurtele, E., 2007. Expanding the utilization of sustainable plant products in aquafeeds: a review. Aquac. Res. 38, 551–579.
- Indexmundi, 2017. Fishmeal monthly price. http://www.indexmundi.com/ commodities/?commodity=fish-meal&months=360 (Accessed 28.03.2017). Jobling, M., 1994. Fish Bioenergetics. Chapman & Hall, London.
- Kiessling, A., Storebakken, T., Åsgård, T., Andersson, I.L., Kiessling, K.-H., 1989. Physiological changes in muscle of rainbow trout fed different ratios. Aquaculture 79, 293–301.
- McDonald, P., Edwards, R.A., Greenhalgh, J.F.D., Morgan, C.A., Sinclair, L.A., Wilkinson, R.G., 2011. Animal Nutrition, 7th ed. Prentice Hall, London.Pelletier, D., Guderley, H., Dutil, J.D., 1993. Does the aerobic capacity of fish muscle
- elletier, D., Guderley, H., Dutil, J.D., 1993. Does the aerobic capacity of fish muscle change with growth rates? Fish Physiol. Biochem. 12, 83–93.
- Weber, J.M., Choi, K., Gonzalez, A., Omlin, T., 2016. Metabolic fuel kinetics in fish: swimming, hypoxia and muscle membranes. J. Exp. Biol. 219, 250–258.
- Wilson, C.M., Friesen, E.N., Higgs, D.A., Farrell, A.P., 2007. The effect of dietary lipid and protein source on the swimming performance, recovery ability and oxygen consumption of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Aquaculture 273, 687–699.